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Message from the Chairman

and the CEO

2021 was another year living under a pandemic. The LPG
sectorwas highly volatile as price swings affected the arbi-
trage and movementof cargoes fromthe USto the Far East.
The pandemic has impacted energy demand and it has
drivenup operating costs. Aboveall,ithasbeenhard onour
seafaring colleagues, where rotations onand off ships have
beenaffected. Thegood newsisthatover90% of our crew
arevaccinated and only asmallnumberhave beenonboard
significantly beyond their designated sign-off date.

2021 was also a year where the focus on climate change
continued to grow. At BW LPG, we are tackling this on
multiple fronts - pioneering LPG propulsion technology,
digitalising our ships with SMARTShip technology, not to
mention numerous smaller operationalinitiatives toreduce
our environmental footprint.

Financial Performance

2021started strong, with LPG freight rates peaking at over
US$100,000 per day in early January, but rates quickly
collapsedtooperating costlevelsin March. From Q2, rates
startedtoimprove,and by the end of the year, shipping inef-
ficienciesand strongwinter heatingdemand broughtrates
toabove US$40,000 perdayin Q4.

For the full year, our TCE income was US$466 million, and
we delivered a net profit of US$186 million compared to
US$244 million in 2020. We have paid dividends for the
lastten quarters and returned a total of US$0.56 per share
(US$77 million)in FY 2021to our shareholders. We now enjoy
the lowest leverage ratio and highest liquidity since listing
in2013.

Corporate Transactions

We announced the sale of BW Empress in April, BW Confi-
dence in July, BW Boss and BW Energy in August, and BW
Sakura and BW Niigata in December; all for further trading
with new owners. Over the course of 2021, we added BW
Elm, BW Pine, BW Oak, BW Tyr and BW Lord to the fleet of
BW LPG India. The company owns and operates the largest
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fleetofIndia-flagged vesselsinthe countrywhichareontime
charter contracts with major Indian oil companies. InJune,
we increased our equity share in BW LPG India from 50%
to 88%; and in January 2022 we welcomed Maas Capital,
a world-leading institutional shipping equity investor as
a minority stakeholder in our Indian subsidiary. We look
forward to continued growth alongside them.

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)

In 2020, we produced our inaugural standalone Sustain-
ability Report.In 2021, we continue to work towards higher
standards of reporting and disclosure. To thisend, we have
aligned ourreporting withrecommendations from the Task
Force for Climate Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)and
conducted a climate risk assessment to improve how we
discloserisks and strategies.

We are pleased with our progress to retrofit 15 of our Very
Large Gas Carriers with LPG dual-fuel propulsion tech-
nology. In spite of difficulties in moving people and equip-
mentdueto Covid-19,including having our site team spendin
aggregate over 360 daysinquarantine due to safe manage-
ment measures, we now have 12 LPG-powered vessels on
the water, delivered ontime and withinbudget,and serving
customers with the sector’s lowest emissions profile. This
is the world’s largest fleet of lower-emissions VLGCs, and
we remain convinced that LPG s part of the solution as we
move towards a zero-carbon future.

Looking Ahead

LPGprovidesaccesstoenergy andservesasafeedstock for
themoderneconomyinacleanerwaythan many competing
fuels. AtBW LPG, we are pleased to be playingarole deliv-
ering thisimportant transition fuel to the world.

Theyearaheadlooks positive with a healthy supply-demand
balance. Furtherout,thereareriskstothe marketonaccount
of alarge newbuilding orderbook. Continued balance will
depend on significant growth in tonne-miles as a result of
long-haul LPG movements.
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About Us

~2000

4] o0°

Employees and Crew Very Large Gas Carriers Years of Operating Experience
Purpose What we do
Towards a We transport LPG safely and sustainably to world
Better World markets. We use our scale and maritime expertise to
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help propel the world’s transition towards a cleaner
energy future

Values

In order to achieve our purpose as a company, we aim to
be Collaborative, Ambitious, Reliable and Enduring in
all that we do

Aspiring towards a Better World A global leader in LPG shipping

+ Driving the world’s energy * Flexible and reliable service

transition by delivering a :
cleaner souxce of ene?gy * LPG-propelled VLGCs with
industry’s lowest emissions
+ Conducting sustainable levels
business practices and
reducing environmental
impact

+ Strong brand and customer
relations

+ Working for customers,
investors and society



Our History

In1955, Sir Yue-Kong Pao bought his first vessel, a 27-year-old freighter renamed the Golden Alpha, and founded World-
Wide Shipping. In 2003, World-Wide Shipping acquired Bergesen, Norway's largest shipping company founded in 1935;
and in 2005, the business was re-branded as BW. The LPG segment of the BW business was listed on the Oslo Stock
Exchange in 2013. Today, BW LPG owns and operates the world’s largest fleet of Very Large Gas Carriers (VLGCs) and
continues to deliver sustainable growth and value for our stakeholders.
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Became the

. _— largest
World-Wide Shipping inde
s pendent .
founded by Sir Y.K. Pao Launch of ship owner Acquired Acquired
first VLCC with >200 N&T and delisted
World Chief vessels Argonaut Bergesen
[ ) [ ) [ ] [ ] [}
1955 1969 1979 1999 2003
- - ~w - A &
O
- -_ - -
1935 1967 1970s 1986
[ J [ ] [ J [ ]
B BERGESEN &= Entry into the Entry into Listed onthe
dry bulk gas market Oslo Stock
Bergersen founded by market Exchange
Sigval Bergesen
2009 2008 2007 2006
W
[ ] [} [ J [ ] [
Privatised Leading owner Acquired Listed Acommon
BW Gas in LPG, LNG, APL BW Offshore identity
VLCC, Product with BW
Tanker and Listed BW Gas
Offshore
segments Acquired
Yara’s gas fleet
2013
2012 W
[ ] [ ] [ )
Sold APL and Listed BW LPG Took delivery
acquired of one newbuilding
Prosafe Acquired from HHI
Production Maersk Tankers’
VLGC fleet
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
[ ] [ [ ) [ ] [ ]
Launched Product Announced plan to Established Acquired Took delivery
Services Division retrofit VLGCs with India Joint Venture Aurora LPG of five
pioneering LPG newbuildings
Took delivery of one  propulsion technology Took delivery of Took delivery of four from HHI
newbuilding from HHI one newbuilding newbuildings from

from DSME HHI'and DSME

Divested two LGCs

(_POWERED BY LPG )

000 I 0 O I I L )

o

2020 2021

° P~

BW Gemini was ®
world's first VLGC to be

powered by LPG == 12 LPG-powered VLGCs on water
India JV became India’s . . . . . . .

largest VLGC owner == Signed first transition loan revolving credit facility and first
and operator H AR H HR
sustainability-linked loan facility

== |Vlaas Capital entered into Agreement to acquire minority stake
in BW LPG India

- Divested three VLGCs
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Toship
smarter is 1o

Decarbonise
operations

Our investment in retrofitting our
VLGCs with pioneering LPG dual-fuel
propulsion technology has borne fruit.
We serve customers with the largest
fleet of LPG-powered VLGCs with the
sector’s lowest greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions profile.

Focus on
technology

SMARTShip technology onboard
enables real-time data transfers
between ship andshore. Togetherwith
otherinitiatives such as LPG-propulsion
and smartweatherrouting, wereduced
fuel consumption which means lesser
emissions and greater savings.

Secure value for
our shareholders
and stakeholders

In 2021, we reacted nimbly to market
opportunities and supported initia-
tives that uplifted communities. We
announced asset transactions and
corporateactions thatstrengthened our
financial position and de-leveraged our
balance sheet. And as we did well, we
continued to support local grassroots
initiatives that improved quality of life
and protected the environment.



2021 in numbers

Environmental

Carbon Intensity

723 1757 O 0

Safety

0.28

1.42

EEOI Spills to Sea Fatalities Lost Time Injury Total Recordable Case
Frequency (LTIF) Frequency (TRCF)
Grams of CO
pertonne-nauticazl mile
Financial Commercial
$466M S312M 97+ 63+ $32,900
Commercial Spot Exposure Spot TCE/day (US$)
TCE Income (US$) EBITDA (US$) Utilisation
$0.56
Dividend/Share (US$)
TCE/Day $36400 Cargo carried in 2021
$35,000 12.3M
$31,000 g 11,886,232
J J J
US$/Day Metric Tonnes

The Market in 2021

The VLGC freight market was supported by strong market demand in addition to shipping inefficiencies such as port and

bunkering delays and crew changes.
LPG Price Arbitrage US-Far East Panama Canal Waiting Days

6.5Days
$120

$ 9 g0 $104 41Days
6 W 6.5
US$/Metric tonne Days
2021 2020 2019 2021 2020
|

LPG Exports

52.9M
46.7M

52.9M

Metric tonnes

(North American)
2021 2020 2019
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Business highlights

2021 exemplified the volatility of the shipping market. We responded by posi-
tioning the company for strength, both operationally and financially - with focus
on technology, asset play and increasing our presence in India, an important

LPG market.
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Dmaximise the returns on our assets
technology. In 2021, pioneering
sion technology powers twelve of
Phis is the world’s largest fleet of

on VLGCs. LPG has the lowest
profile of any carbon-based fuel.
Snefit from a 20% decline in CO,
Scompliant fuels. And by retro-
grone milliontonsin CO,emis-
ing newbuildings. With over
gration, we have shown that
nology works. Our program
3Cs with this technology will

thalf of 2022.

digitalisation, and
pped with SMART-
enables real-time
shore. Together
Smart weather




2 Nimble asset play
o secure the best
long-term retums

Asset transactions in 2021

Vessels sold Partofourstrategy tosecure long-term value for our stakeholder
involves asset transactions. In a strong second-hand market,

we sold five vessels at above new-build equivalent prices. We
‘ US$ sold BW Empress in April, BW Confidence in July, BW Boss and
BW Energyin August,and BW Sakurain Decemberto theirnew
ownersforfurthertrading. Intotal, thisgenerated over US$ 165

in liquidity million in liquidity and a net gain of US$ 23 million.

‘ US$ 23 M In December, we also announced the sale of BW Niigata, and
the transaction was completed in February 2022.

in net gain

Share buy-back programme

10M

Largest owner and operator of India-flagged VLGCs

InDecember2021, weinitiated ashare buy-back programme to

purchase upto10 millioncommon shares foramaximumamount

of US$ 50 million, to be held as treasury shares. This program

reflects our ability to react to market opportunities — we sell

Common Shares assets ata profitto our book values and investin the Company
for maximum of by buying shares which are trading at a significant discount to
us$ ourshareholders’equity value. As of 28 February, we purchased
5 M 2,870,827 shares at an average price of NOK 48.10 per share,

amounting to NOK 138 million.

y

Over the course of the year, we moved an additional five VLGCs
into our Indian subsidiary. BW LPG India [§] is the largest owner
Bw I_PG INDIA and operator of India-flagged VLGCs. The fleet currently
comprises seven modernVLGCs which are maintained toworld-
class standards. These VLGCs are on time-charter contracts

Jﬂ ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ ri gﬂﬂﬁhw 5 ﬂﬂﬁhw 5 with accretive rates and returnsin India.
ﬂm—.ﬂ#ﬁ%i nﬂgﬁ% 1 nﬂ#%m

'? et 1
= |

—
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https://www.bwlpg.com/media/articles/fueling-indias-cleaner-energy-future/

3 ‘ Increasing our

investiment in India
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Retail demand for LPG in India continues to grow and LPG imports increased
by 20% in 2021. Significant infrastructure investments into new pipelines, port
expansions and storage facilities have encouraged high LPGimports. The coun-
try’sinvestmentsin propane dehydrogenation plants also bodes well for potential
LPGimportdemand for the petrochemical sector.

In 2021, Maas Capital Shipping B.V. (Maas Capital) entered into an agreement to
acquire aminority stakein BW LPGIndia. Followingthe transactioninJanuary 2022,
BW LPG owns approximately 67%in BW LPG India. This partnership allows us to
look beyond traditional LPG shipping, and into LPG infrastructure opportunities
where we see significant upsides as a firstmover.

Maas Capitalis one of the world’s leading institutional shipping equity investors.

Its portfolioincludes controllingand non-controlling stakesin shipping, intermodal
and offshore services related assets.

21
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Commercial

BWLPGLIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

An extremely volatile but overall
healthy market in 2021

We began 2021 strongly with TCE freight rates peaking at over US$100,000 per
day in early January. However, freight rates quickly collapsed to OPEX levels in
March, led by falling exports from both the US and Middle East.

VLGC freightratesimproved strongly in Q2, as exports recovered from both the
US and Middle East. Rates increased from OPEX levels in early March to over
US$40,000 per day in mid-May and stabilised at around cash breakeven levels
in Q3.

Towards the end of the year, shipping inefficiencies especially delaysin Panama
Canal and strong winter heating demand led to freight rates stabilising at over
US$40,000 per day.

In 2021, we achieved a fleet wide VLGC TCE rate of US$33,500 per day on avail-
able days.

Navigating through the cycles with
a balanced Spot and Time Charter portfolio

We started the year with 24% Time Charter coverage at an average TCE of
US$31,200 per day. Our balanced portfolio allowed us to capture upsidesin the
spotmarket,and atthe sametime, protected our earnings whenrates bottomed.

We renewed our contracts for 2022 and 2023 at healthy levels during market
highs, while remaining focused on commercial utilisation. We are 22% covered
for2022 atan average TCE of $32,900 per day.

OurProductServicesdivision continuestocomplementour core shipping busi-

ness,andin2021thedivision has helped to maintain anindustry-leadingcommer-
cial utilisation rate of 97% for our fleet.

25



3.1 Commercial

Maximising refurns on current assets
and growing in the LPG value chain

We focused on optimising our existing fleet, making significantupfrontinvest-
ments to upgrade vessels with LPG dual-fuel propulsion and SMARTShip
technology, to maximise returns on our current assets.

We increased our ownership inthe Indian joint venture from 50%to 88 % in
June, before welcoming Maas Capital as a minority shareholder in January
2022 and bringing down our ownership to 67%. We are now the number one
operator of India-flagged LPG vessels and are exploring areas for further
growthinIndia, both within LPG vessels and LPG infrastructures.

Our strong commercial performance prepares us for all kinds of market
conditions, and with strong cash flow from operations we can participate in
sizable and attractive investments in the LPG value chain.

QOil price review

Oil prices started to recover in early 2021. This trend continued through the
firsthalf of the year, withincreased Covid-19 vaccinations, travel restrictions
being lifted and demand for energy rising. In May, oil prices recovered all
losses from 2020.

As demand continued to grow in the second half of 2021, OPEC+ stuck toits
plan to increase production to 400,000 barrels per day. This pushed Brent
oil prices above US$86 per barrel, as fears grew over an energy shortage
during the coming winter. Oil prices corrected somewhat after news of US
and other countriesreleasing oil reservesinto the marketto cool the market.

Inlate November, the Omicronvariantofthe Covid-19 virusemerged. As the

variant spread outside of Africa, oil prices fell sharply, reflecting increased
uncertainty related to social restrictions and energy consumption.
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2021 in Four Charts

Oil prices recovered strongly in 2021, LPG and

VLSFO fuel prices mirrored increasing trend

WTI Oil Prices (US$ Per Barrel) and
Fuel Prices Development (US$ Per Metric Ton)

20 850

85 800

80 WTI 750

— USLPG (RHS)

75 700

Singapore VLSFO (RHS)

70 650

65 600
60 550
55 500
50 450
45 400

40 350
Jan21 Feb21 Mar21 Apr21 May21 Jun21 Jul21 Aug21 Sep21 Oct21 Nov21 Dec21

Despite short term fluctuations, both
WTlandBrentcrude oil pricescontinued
theirupward trend, driven by recovering
demandforoil productsandacautious
approach by OPEC+ in reviving its oil
production outputs. WTI averaged at
$68 perbarrelin2021,comparedto $40
per barrelin 2020.

Due torising oil prices and low US LPG
inventories, US LPG prices remained
high compared to VLSFO. In April, BW
LPGlockedinthe spread between LPG
and VLSFO before the spread widened
further. The transactions reduced LPG
fuel price exposuresforour LPG-fuelled
vessels.

Source Bloomberg

US LPG exports continue to grow and Middle East exports
recovered as OPEC+ gradually eased oil production cuts

Global LPG Exports by Major Exporters
(Million Metric Tons)

120

North America . West Africa
Middle East B Australia -
Europe Rest of the World
100 u B I
- I
80—
60
40
20
0

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

At the end of January 2021, US LPG
production was disrupted due to the
extreme cold freeze, but production
quicklyrecovered andremained steady
since. OPEC+ progressively increased
their production, driven by stronger oil
prices.

In 2021, total North American LPG
exports increased by 13% to 53 million
tons. 2021 total Middle East exports
were largely in line with 2020 at 36
million tons.

BW LPG continued to focus on US
liftings, and has lifted 6.8 million tons
fromthe US,accounting for13% of total
North American LPG exports.

Source IHS Waterborne, BW LPG Analysis
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52 VLGC newbuild orders were placed in 2021,

total order book stands at 70 ships or 22%

50

40

30

-10

Increasing transit delays in Panama Canal

== VLGC Count at Year End (RHS)
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—fn ||I|
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Global VLGC Fleet Profile (Number of VLGCs)
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Oct 21

Nov 21

Dec 21

In2021,18 VLGCswere delivered and no
VLGCs were recycled. Healthy VLGC
freight rates, positive long-term LPG
marketoutlook andtightening environ-
mental regulationsincentivised aflurry
of newbuilding ordersin 2021.

All newbuilding orders are LPG-dual
fuel vessels, showcasingtheindustry’s
beliefin LPGasatransitionfueltowards
azero carbon solution.

BWLPG continuedits strategy of maxi-
mising the value of current assets,
committing 15 VLGCs to be retrofitted
with LPG dual-fuel propulsion tech-
nology, investing in digitalisation of its
fleet, and not adding more capacity to
the global fleet.

Source BW LPG Analysis

Average waiting days for transit at the
Panama Canal haveincreasedyearover
year.Inseasonally strong quarters such
as Q4, waiting days increased to more
than one month for both legs.

These delays are expected to be the
“new normal” in 2022, as new booking
rules kick in. Traffic around Cape of
Good Hope for US exports into Asia is
therefore expected toincrease.

Shipping inefficiencies will continue to
supportton-mile demand, offsetvessel
suppliesandincrease market volatility.

Source Wilhelmsen, BW LPG Analysis
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Financial

2021 2020
US$ Million  US$ Million i i
Highest available

Results liquidity fo-date at
Time charter equivalent income 466 551 US$

EBITDA 312 14 453 M
Net Profit 186 244

Balance Sheet

Vessel net book value 1,792 1,754
Total assets 2,364 2,417 Net Ieverage ratio
Total cash and cash equivalents 133 90 at lowest level in
Total borrowings and lease liabilities 875 1,046 seven years at
Shareholders’ equity 1,386 1,252 o
Cash Flows 35 /o
Operating 307 398
Investing 76 (2)
Financing (310) (433)
Free cash flow 330 331
Available liquidity (including undrawn facility) 453 286
Per Share Data Us$ US$
Earnings per share 1.33 1.76
Net asset value per share 10.15 9.06 US$77M
Dividends per share 0.56 0.84 Total Dividends declared
Per Day Costs
Vessel calendar days' 15,658 16,259 US$22K
OPEX per day? 8,000 7,668 Net Profit
NPAT breakeven per day® 21,701 21,062 PorDay ‘
US$639 Per Day YoY
Ratios
EarningsYield 23.4% 25.6%
Returns on Equity 14.1% 20.1%
Returns on Capital Employed 9.8% 11.8%
EBITDA Margin 66.9% T5.2%  20mly tor ounesand sarebont invessels
Net Leverage Ratio 35.0% 44.2%  chargeonvessels.negatve goccil andasin on derecognition

of right-of-use assets

——
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Positive EBITDA through the cycles
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Shares

Market capitalisation and turnover

BW LPGislisted onthe Oslo stock exchange underthe ticker code BW LPG. As of
31December2021,there were 141.9 million sharesissued and 136.9 million shares
outstanding with 5.0 millionshares held intreasury. Attheend of 2021, BW LPG’s
market capitalisation stood at US$805 million; down from US$975 million at the
end of 2020. During 2021, an average of 509,000 BW LPG shares were traded
daily, equivalentto 0.4% of outstanding shares.

Dividend policy

BWLPGaimsforapayoutratio of 50% of Net Profits After Tax(NPAT),onanannual
basis, adjusted forextraordinary items, aftertakinginto considerationappropriate
levelsonleverage, capital expenditure plans and financing requirements, financial
flexibility, anticipated cashflows and other administration costs associated with
smalldividend payments.

Dividend payment history

Since BWLPG'slistingin 2013, we have returned US$800 million to shareholders
intotal dividends. This equatesto US$5.86 per share,and an accumulated payout
ratio of 61% of the total earnings per share since our IPO of US$9.65 per share.
Accumulated EPS excludes all vesselimpairment / write backs to-date.

Buy-tbback program

OnDecember 8,2021,BW LPGinitiated a share buy-back program, under which
BW LPG will purchase up to 10 million common shares for a maximum of US$50
million. The program is expected to continue until the end of Q2 2022. As of 28
February, we purchased 2,870,827 shares at an average price of NOK 48.10 per
share, amounting to NOK 138 million.

Share price performance

The general equities market continued its recovery from 2020 and set new
records in 2021. The Oslo Bgrs Benchmark Index rose by 23% over the year,
fueled in part by expectations of receding earnings impact from the pandemic
and low interestrates.

BW LPG share price lagged behind the performance of the Index for much of
2021. A contributing factor to this was the muted spot rate environment experi-
enced formuch ofthe year. Towards the end of the period, BW LPG’s share price
strengthened, reflecting stronger spot earnings and the launch of the share
buy-back program.

Comparedto listed peers, BW LPG's share matched Peer 1 but lagged the price
development of Peer 2 and the Oslo Benchmark Index.

——
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Share Price Development vs Peers and OSEBX (Indexed) — BWLPG
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140 Peer2
OSEBX

130
120
110
100
920
80

70

60
Jan21 Feb21 Mar21 Apr21 May21 Jun21 Jul 21 Aug21 Sep21 Oct21 Nov2i Dec21

Shares - At a Glance

As of 31 December 2021

1419 1369 5.0

Million Million Million
Shares Issued Shares Outstanding Shares (in Treasury)
7 ] B Average value of
traded stocks per day
1D o 509K
hMarket Capitasciion Shares traded daily 27 M NOK

Since listing in 2013
Us$ O/ oo, USS
800M - 6] /O ww Of 9-65/Shcre
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3.3 Shares

Analyst coverage

The BW LPG shareis covered by 10 brokerage houses, both Norway-based and international.

Company

ABG Sundal Collier

Analyst Email

Petter Hagen petter.haugen@abgsc.no

2 Torjus Loftheim torjus.loftheim@abgsc.no
3 Arctic Securities LarsOstereng lars.ostereng@arctic.com
4 Clarksons Platou Securities Frode Morkedal frode.morkedal@clarksons.com
5 Cleaves Securities Peter Michael E. Christensen pmc@cleaves.no
6 DNBMarkets Jorgen Lian jorgen.lian@dnb.no
. Peder NicolaiJarlsby pnj@fearnleys.no
Fearnleys Securities - - -
Erik Hovi e.hovi@fearnleys.com
Andreas Nibe Nygard anygard@keplercheuvreux.com
Kepler Cheuvreux X
10 Anders Redigh Karlsen arkarlsen@keplercheuvreux.com
1" . AugustKlemp august.klemp@paretosec.com
Pareto Securities — —
Eirik Haavaldsen eirik.naavaldsen@paretosec.com
13 SEB David Bhatti david.bhatti@seb.no
14 Frederik Ness frederik.ness@seb.no
15 UBS Brian Reynolds brian.reynolds@ubs.com
*
Top 20* shareholders

BWLPG'slargestshareholderis BW Group who holds 40% of sharesinissue. The overall shareholder base is diverse with
both Norwegian and international shareholders.

No.ofShares  %ofShareslssued Name

1 56,807,126 40.02 BW Group Limited

2 10,868,579 7.66 FOLKETRYGDFONDET

3 7,312,053 5.15 JPMorgan Chase Bank,N.A.,London

4 6,490,135 4.57 BWLPGHoldingLtd

5 2,748,608 1.94 State StreetBankand Trust Comp A/CCLIENT OMNIBUSF

6 1,890,979 1.33 Goldman Sachs International

7 1,580,292 11 Nordnet Bank AB

8 1,535,689 1.08 Citibank

9 1,507,507 1.06 JP Morgan Chase Bank London

10 1,321,132 0.93 Clearstream Banking SA

1 1,296,997 0.91 The Bank of New York Mellon BNYM AS AGT/CLTS NON TREATY
12 1,241,229 0.87 The Bank of New York Mellon C/O BNYM RE 261920

13 1,230,197 0.87 State Street Bankand Trust Comp A/C West Non-Treaty Account
14 1,169,414 0.82 JP Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A.

15 990,190 0.70 STAVERN HELSE OG FORVALTNING AS

16 963,529 0.68 VPFDNBAM NORSKE AKSJER

17 937,373 0.66 Danske Bank A/S

18 934,397 0.66 Verdipapirfondet DNB SMB

19 898,128 0.63 The Northern Trust Comp

20 889,524 0.63 Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB

*As of 31January 2022
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BW LPG dividend information

Dividend persharein USDis converted from NOK using the exchange rate onthe paymentdate.

Period u%’:ﬂgg‘::ﬁ” (5%;\]6133) [} (()'L%Iba)res (adFuPssted) Dividend per Payotlt ratio sg?;i_zﬂ(f:e Agir\‘llijgcleirfgd

(US$'000) (US$) share (US$) (%) l:(‘ﬁrslg;i y(l(;:)d
2021 31,901 184,821 138,951 1.33 1.10 0.56 51% 5.74 10%
2020 8,200 243,854 138,682 1.76 1.70 0.84 49% 6.86 12%
2019 37,995 273,840 138,983 1.97 1.70 0.85 50% 8.41 10%
2018 (33,500) (71,400) 139,697 (0.51) (0.27) - 0% 2.98 0%
2017 (4,552) (42,688) 141,777 (0.30) (0.27) - 0% 4.7 0%
2016 (144,147) 24,279 136,577 0.18 1.23 0.09 7% 4.20 2%
2015 - 323,967 133,071 2.43 2.43 1.46 60% 8.30 18%
2014 - 254,570 136,064 1.87 1.87 1.91 102% 7.05 27%
2013 56,347 124,739 136,276 0.92 0.50 0.15 30% 9.51 3%

Investor Relations policy

We always:

——

&

&

Respect the principle of equal treatment
of all market players to ensure fair
pricing of BW LPG’s shares

Y

HARHA

Maintain an open and continuous
dialogue with existing and potential
shareholders, stakeholders and

the public

Communicate about our business
performance and developments with
all our investors and analysts via:

1 | Annual and quarterly reports and
press releases

Analyst presentations and information

2 ‘ Annual General Meetings, Investor &
sessions

industry participants and investors

3 ‘ Industry seminars and events where
are represented

Aim for a high degree of openness and
communicate information in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the
Oslo Stock Exchange

Maintain a Primary Insider Register
with any changes to the primary
insiders’ shareholdings published on
the Oslo Stock Exchange’s internet
news platform and on our website [§]
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Board of Directors

The Board shares the same vision with the Executive
Leadership Team - that BW LPG continues to be Best on Water,
delivering cleaner energy for a sustainable world.

The Board is independent of the Leadership Team and
material business connections of BW LPG, with four of five
members independent of our largest shareholder.

Andreas Sohmen-Pao
Chairman

AnneGretheDalane

BWLPGLIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Andreas Sohmen-Pao has been Chairman ofthe Board of BW LPG Limited since
September 2013.

MrSohmen-Paois Chairman of BW Group and its other listed affliates, including
BW Offshore, Hafnia, BW Epic Kosan, BW Energy and Cadeler. He is Chairman
of the Global Centre for Maritime Decarbonisation and a trustee of the Lloyd’s
Register Foundation.

Mr Sohmen-Pao was previously Chairman of the Singapore Maritime Founda-
tionand has served as a non-executive director of The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Ltd, The London P&l Club, Singapore Symphonia Co Ltd,
National Parks Board Singapore, Sport Singapore and the Maritime and Port
Authority of Singapore amongstothers.

Mr Sohmen-Pao graduated from Oxford University in England with an honours
degreein Oriental Studies and holds a MBA from Harvard Business School.

Mr Sohmen-Pao has attended 4 of 4 board meetingsin 2021.

Anne Grethe Dalane has served on the BW LPG Board since November 2013 as
anindependentdirector.

She has been with Yara since 2003. Prior to this, Ms Dalane has held various
senior management positionsat Norsk Hydrointhe areas of Human Resources,
Corporate Strategy and Finance.

Her board experience includes Hafslund, EDB Business Partners, Prosafe and
Petroleum Geo Services. Ms Dalane is a certified financial analyst and holds a
MBA from the Norwegian School of Economics.

Ms Dalane has attended 4 of 4 board meetingsin 2021.
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4.1 Board of Directors

Martha Kold Bakkevig

Andrew E.Wolff

SonaliChandmal

Martha Kold Bakkevig has served on the BW LPG Board since August 2017 asan
independentdirector.

Ms Bakkevig currently serves as the managing partner of MKOLD. Prior to that,
she spent10yearsas Chief Executive Officer of DeepWell,an oil service company
operatinginthe North Sea, and two years as Chief Executive Officer of Steinsvik
Group.Hertermendedin 2019.

Ms Bakkevig has extensive experience in management, strategy and business
development, and a broad academic background with adoctor’s degree in both
technical and business strategical subjects. She holds a Master’s degree and
PhD from the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU) and a
Doctorate in Economics from Bl Norwegian Business School.

She is also non-executive director of public listed companies Reach Subsea,
Hexagon Purus and Edda Wind.

Ms Bakkevig has attended 4 of 4 board meetingsin 2021.

Mr Andrew E. Wolff has served on the BW LPG Board since 20 May 2020 as an
independentdirector.

Hewasmostrecently Global Co-Head of the Merchant Banking Division (“MBD”),
Head of MBD International and Global Co-Head of Private Equity for Goldman
Sachs.Hewasthe Co-ChiefInvestment Officer of the flagship Merchant Banking
private equity funds. Mr Wolff was a member of the European Management
Committee, Corporate Investment Committee, Infrastructure Investment
Committee, and Co-Chairman of the Growth Equity Investment Committee. Mr
Wolff joined Goldman Sachs in 1998 in the Principal Investment Area and was
named Managing Directorin 2005 and Partnerin 2006.

He hasexperienceinvesting across global markets and has served onthe boards
of companiesinthe United States, Canada, Argentina, Brazil, Japan, China, Korea,
the United Kingdom, France, Norway and Denmark.

MrWolff earned a BAin Philosophy from Yale Universityin1991and aJD and MBA
from Harvard Law School and Harvard Business School, respectively, in 1998.

Mr Wolff has attended 4 of 4 board meetingsin 2021.

Sonali Chandmal has served on the BW LPG Board since 20 May 2020 as an
independentdirector.

She is currently a partner at A Lamot Incobel & Co, an advisory firm sourcing,
structuring and funding private equity opportunities and funds in Europe, India
and America. Ms Chandmal currently serves onthe Board of Directors and Renu-
meration Committee of Ageas SA/ NV, the Board of Directorsand Renumeration
Committee Chair of Ageas Portugal Grupo and the Board of Directors, Auditand
Sustainability Committees of Medicover AB.Sheisalso onthe Board of Directors
of the Harvard Club of Belgium and Chapter Zero Brussels.

From1997 to 2017, she worked at Bain & Company, a leading global strategy and
management consulting firm, atits officesin San Francisco,Londonand Brussels.
Priortothat,Ms Chandmalworked atRobertson Stephens & Company, aninvest-
ment bank specialising in hightechnology IPOs and mergers &acquisitions. Ms
Chandmal holdsaBAin Economics from the University of California at Berkeley,
andaMBA atthe Harvard University Graduate School of Business Administration.

Ms Chandmal has attended 4 of 4 board meetingsin 2021.
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Leadership Team

Anders Onarheim
Chief Executive Officer

ElaineOng
Chief Financial Officer

NielsRigault

Executive Vice President,
Commercial

BWLPGLIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Anders Onarheim’s extensive knowledge in management, business develop-
ment and capital markets was acquired when he was the Managing Director in
companieswithin Carnegie Group foroveri16years,and subsequently asanactive
investor primarily in the energy space.

Priorto Carnegie, Mr Onarheim served as the Head of Equities of Enskilda Secu-
rities Norway from 1994 to 1996. From 1990 to 1994, he served as an Executive
Director in the Investment Banking division of Goldman Sachs in the UK. From
1986101990, he was Vice Presidentforinstitutional salesin Merrill Lynchinthe US
and the UK. MrOnarheim has held numerous board memberships within different
industriesandis currently Chairman of the board of North Energy ASAand Ocean
GeolLoop AS, and board member of Reach Subsea ASA. He joined BW LPG as
CEOQinearly2020 after serving onthe Board from November 2013 until May 2020.

He holdsa MBA from the Washington University in St. Louis, where he graduated
in1986.

Elaine Ong hascloseto 30years of experienceinallaspects of Finance.She joined
BW Group as Vice President, Finance in 2011 and her last held position with the
Groupwas Senior Vice President, Finance. Before joining BW Group, Ms Ong was
the Internal Audit Lead for Kraft Foods Asia Pacific from 2009 to 2011.

Prior to that, Ms Ong was with Teekay Corporation from 1999 to 2009 and held
variousfinancerolesbothinVancouver,Canadaandin Singapore.Herlast position
at Teekaywas Vice President, Global Financial Projects & Systems and Regional
Controller for Asia Pacific. Ms Ong started her post-graduate career with Ernst
& YounginVancouver, Canadafrom1993to01999 and isa Chartered Accountant
with the Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia, Vancouver,
Canada.She holdsaBachelor of Commerce degree fromthe University of British
Columbia, Vancouver, Canada.

Niels Rigault has 15 years of experience in competitive shipbroking and in all
areas of maritime LPG. He is currently Chairman of the Board of BW LPG India,
BW LPG's India subsidiary. Priortojoining BW LPGin 2016, Mr Rigault was Senior
Partner and Member of the Project department at Inge Steensland where he
was responsible for long-term time charters, newbuildings and second-hand
vessel transactions. He joined Inge Steensland as a brokerin 2006. Mr Rigault
started his careeras abroker at Lorentzen and Stemoco A/Sin2002.

He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Economics from Vrije Universiteit
Brussel /Vesalius College and a degree in Marketing from Bl Norwegian Busi-
ness School.
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4.2 Management Team

PontusBerg

Executive Vice President,
Technical and Operations

ProdyutBanerjee
Vice President, Operations

Knut-Helge Knutsen
Vice President, Technical

JoMoffat
Vice President, Product Services

Pontus Berg has over 25 years of shipping experience with Ship Owners and
Technical Management companies. Mr Berg is currently a Non-Executive
Director of the Board of BW LPG India, BW LPG’s India subsidiary. Mr Berg has
sailed up tothe rank of Chief Engineer. Priorto joining BW LPGin 2015, Mr Berg
was General Manager and Director General of Greenship Gas France. There
he headed a fleet of Ethylene carriers and a series of Multigas dual-fuelled
newbuildings. Prior to that, he worked as Technical Manager in Evergas A/S
and Eitzen Gas. MrBergisamember of the DNV and Lloyd’s Register Southeast
Asia Technical Committee.

He holds a Bachelor of Science in Marine Engineering from Kalmar Merchant
Marine University.

Captain Prodyut Banerjee has more than 18 years of experience in Global Oper-
ations in the maritime industry. He has held various leadership positions with
BW Group since 2005. Prior to joining BW, he worked with ExxonMobil for over
15years, servingon vessels atseaandin shore positionsin the United Kingdom.

He holds a MBA from the National University of Singapore.

Knut-Helge Knutsen has held globalleadership positionsinthe maritime industry
for the past 20 years. Before joining BW in 2013, he was Regional Manager at
VPS (Veritas Petroleum Services) for six years, and was with DNV for 11 years
where he led various technical departments in Norway and South Korea.

He holds a Masters degree in Marine Engineering from Norwegian University
of Science and Technology and Global Business Leadership qualifications from
IMD Business School in Switzerland.

Jo Moffat has over 25 years of experience in LPG markets with her main focus
on LPG trading. Her career started in Mobil Oil as an engineer before joining
Ferrell Intlas an LPG trader where she stayed for 18 years.

Before joining BW LPG she held commercial leadership positions at Shell Inter-
national Eastern Trading Company and SK Gas International Pte Ltd in Singapore.
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Risk Management

Risk management is not just a matter of compliance and good govermance. It is

fundamental to our decision-making process at every level of the organisation.

Ouir risk strategy and policy determine how we plan for and react to risks related
tfo our corporate strategy, preventable incidents from operations,

BWLPGLIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

and unexpected events.

Leading by example

Atthe corporate level,weinsiston high standards of integrity from our employees
on shore and at sea. Transparent reporting by the Executive Leadership Team
and regular, detailed reviews by an international Board of Directors are part of
an established risk management framework that ensures good governance at
the highest levels of leadership.

A framework to guide corporate decisions

BW LPG strivesto provide competitive risk-adjusted returnsto shareholders. Our
Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) is based on the principles of the ISO 31000
andthe Committee of Sponsoring Organisations’ (COSO) ERM Framework. Our
riskmanagement processbeginswith ariskregister,where all possiblerisksare
considered and ranked according to probability of occurance and impactto our
business if realised. Identified risks are then analysed to explore possible miti-
gationandimprovementopportunities before key business decisionsare made.

We regularly review our risk framework, policy and register to ensure relevant
processes and effective mitigation.

]

Identification

Risks are identified in
the course of business
and operations

6

Reporting

Regular review and
reporting to BOD by
Leadership team on
effectiveness of risk
strategy

2

Assessment

Risks are assessed to
understand probability
of occurences and
impact to business

Risk
Management

3

Recording

Risks are documented,
prioritised and assigned
to most impacted
department

S

Monitoring

Risks are monitored in
the course of business
and operations

4

Mitigation
Mitigation plans are

prepared and
implemented
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4.3 Risk Management

Our Risk Management focuses on:

&y O 8 s {e
v —
 —
v —
Aligning strategy Increasing the Improving the Ensuring continued Enhancing Protecting and
and performance likelihood of identification of compliance with governance advancing
with Vision, Mission achieving business opportunities relevant legal stakeholder
and Values objectives and threats and regulatory confidence
requirements and and trust

international norms

BW LPG is exposed to a variety of risks in the course of doing business and
operations. Theserisks are managed by an established Enterprise Risk Manage-
ment(ERM) process thatidentifies, assesses, reports and respondsto potential
threats. Our ERM process weaves through many other work processes across
the Company.

Heads of Departments come togethereach yeartoidentify, deliberate and work
on mitigation actions for risks faced at the Enterprise level. The Leadership
Team reviews and approves all decisions related to this annual exercise. The
ERM process for 2022 was held in 2H 2021 where five key risks were identified
to have possible significant impact to our business and operations, including
earnings, financial positions, and our ability to create and deliver value to our
shareholders.
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Types of Risk

Decarbonisation

Shippingfacesincreasingly stringentregula-
tory controls on emissions which impactthe
type of fuel we can use to power our vessels.
Vessels may have to reduce speed to meet
emissionregulations. The industry will need
rapid developments in technology to meet
ambitious emission targets.

We will retrofit 15 vessels with LPG dual-fuel
propulsiontechnology and consider waysto
further renew our fleet. We also implement
initiatives to optimise voyages and explore
energy saving fittings.

We continue to monitor and assess develop-
mentsin new technology thatwill furtherour
decarbonisation ambition.

Human Capital

Shipping is evolving rapidly, and we need
qualified staff that are equipped with the
relevant competency. Failure to do so can
impactourability toimplementour strategic
objectives and move ahead of competition.

We offer competitive salaries and benefits to
attractandretaintalent. We also offer training
opportunities to build on competencies, and
ensure we have asustainable talent pipeline.

Macro-economic
and Market

Growing VLGC newbuilding orders coupled
with reducing LPG import/export volumes
may exert downward pressure on freight
rates. Challenging market conditions may
be made worse if we use inferior data in
our demand-supply model and make poor
commercial decisions. Geopolitical risks may
impact energy flows.

We closely monitor freight rates and market
outlook,and subscribe toreputable research
agencies to access quality market research
reports. We leverage on in-house commer-
cial expertise to maintain market agility, and
choose not to add to the global orderbook.
We also leverage on our Product Services
divisionto capture marketopportunitiesand
maximise fleet utilisation.

Financial

As the business grows, we must ensure
adequateriskmanagementtocombatunpre-
dictable market fluctuations. Volatile market
conditions can also increase the possibility
of losses from hedging and cargo trading
exposures.

We usefinancialinstruments such asinterest
rate swaps, bunker swapsandfreightforward
agreements to hedge material exposures.
Cross-departmentalteams work closely with
our risk management team to continuously
check and monitor risk limits.

Technology

The ability to collectand make sense of datais
critical to optimise assets and performance.
To preventobsolescence, we mustcontinue
to digitalise our vessels, increase automa-
tion, embrace promising new technology,
and upgrade our IT infrastructure.

The growing trend of automation and digi-
talisation, coupled with alternative working
arrangements increase cybersecurity risks
and risk of data breaches.

We invest in promising new technology (eg.
SMARTShip) and regularly maintain and
upgrade our hardware and systems on our
vessels board and in our offices.

We mitigate cybersecurity risks by imple-
menting appropriate measures and
conducting audits that identify potential
vulnerabilities. We also conduct training to
raise awareness of and alertness to cyber
security threats.
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Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance Comply or Explain Overview

Section of the Code Deviations

1 Implementation and reporting on None
corporate governance

2 The Company’s objectives are wider and more extensive.

3 Equity and dividends The Company’s issuance and purchase of its own shares are
neither limited to a specific purpose nor to a specified period.

4 Equal treatment of shareholders None

5 Shares and Negotiability The Company may decline to register the transfer of any share if
the transfer results in the Company being deemed a “Controlled
Foreign Company” in Norway.

6 General meetings The Chairman of the Board also acts as the Chair of the General
meetings.

7 Nomination committee A member of the Nomination committee is a member of the
Board. (to be changed in 2022)

8 Board of Directors: composition and None

independence

9 The work of the Board of Directors One of the two members of the Remuneration Committee is not
independent of the Company’s largest shareholder.

10 Risk management and internal control None

1 Remuneration of the Board of Directors None

12 Remuneration of the executive Performance-related remuneration to Executive Personnel are
not subject to an absolute limit.

13 Information and communications None

14 Take-overs None

15 None
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1 | Implementation and Reporting on Corporate Governance

BWLPG Limited (“BWLPG” orthe “Company”)isa Bermuda limited liability company
listed on the Oslo Bars (the Oslo Stock Exchange).

BW LPGis primarily governed by the Bermuda Companies Act, its Memorandum of
Associationandits Bye-laws. In addition, the Company is required to comply with
certainaspectsofthe Norwegian Securities Trading Act, the Norwegian Accounting
Actandthe continuing obligationsforcompanieslisted onthe Oslo Stock Exchange.

This Reportprovidesan overall overview of the Company’s Corporate Governance
practices with specificreference tothe Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate
Governance (the “Code”) dated 14 October 2021issued by the Norwegian Corpo-
rate Governance Board. Each individual point of the Code is reviewed and if the
Company deviates from the Code, explanations have been provided. The Code is
available atwww.nues.no.

—
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TheBoard of Directors (the “Board”) believes thatthe bestinterests of the Company
and its shareholders are best served by the adoption of business policies and
practices which are legal, compliant, ethical, and open in relation to all dealings
with customers, potential customers and other third parties. These policies are
designedtobefairandinaccordance with leading market practices on stakeholder
relationships and are also sensitive to reasonable expectations of public interest.

The Company’s Corporate Governance policy takesintoaccountthe Code and as
such,includesself-regulatory corporate governance practices. The Company has
developeditsinternal policies and practices, where appropriate, to meetrequire-
ments and recommendations of the Code.

The Corporate Governance of the Company is subject to review by the Board at
leastannually,and the Company’s governance documents are reviewed annually
to ensure continued relevance and accuracy.

The Company does not deviate from Section1of the Code.

2 | The Business

The business the Company is operating, and the objectives of the Company are
described in the Company’s Memorandum of Association. In accordance with
common practice for Bermudacompanies, the description ofthe Company’s objec-
tivesiswiderand more extensive thanrecommended inthe Code. Thisrepresents
adeviation from Section 2 of the Code.

The Boardleadsthe Company’s strategic planningand makes decisionsand defines
clearobjectives, strategies andrisk profile that forms the basis forthe Company’s
Executive Personnelto prepareand carry outinvestmentsand structural measures
tocreatevalueforthe shareholdersinasustainable way. During thiswork, the Board
takes into account economic, social and economic conditions. The Company’s
objectives, strategies and risk profiles are evaluated atleast once yearly.

The Company’sobjectivesand main strategiesare describedinthe Annual Report.

The Company has implemented corporate values, ethical guidelines and guide-
linesforcorporate social responsibility which reflecthow the Companyintegrates
considerationsrelatedtoits stakeholdersintoitsvalue creation. These valuesand
guidelines are described in the Company’s Code of Ethics and Business Conduct
and internal policies.

3 | Equity and Dividends

The Board regularly evaluates the Company'’s capital requirements to ensure
that the Company has a capital structure which is appropriate for its objectives,
strategy and risk profile.

The Board has decided on a dividend policy for the Company to provide adegree
of predictability and transparency on the determination of dividend payouts to
shareholders. The policy highlights that when determining the quarterly dividend
level, the Board will target a payout ratio of 50% of net profits after tax, and will
take into consideration appropriate limits on leverage, capital expenditure plans,
financing requirements, appropriate financial flexibility and anticipated cash flows.
The dividend policy details can be found on the Company’s website. In addition to
cashdividends, the Company may buy back sharesas partofits total distribution of
capitaltoshareholders. Under the Bye-laws of the Company, the Board of Directors
may declare dividends and distributions without the approval of the shareholders
ingeneral meetings. Dividend payouts which are approved atthe Board Meetings
of the Company are made in accordance with the dividend policy.
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4.4 Corporate Governance

Pursuant to Bermuda law and in accordance with common practice for Bermuda
incorporated companies, the Board has authority to issue any authorized unissued
shares in the Company on such terms and conditions as it may decide and may
exercise all powers of the Company to purchase the Company’s own shares. The
powers of the Board to issue and purchase shares are neither limited to specific
purposes norto a specified period asrecommendedinthe Code. Thisrepresents
adeviation from Section 3 of the Code.

4 | Equal Treatment of Shareholders

The Company has one class of shares. Each share in the Company carries one
vote, and all shares carry equal rights, including the right to participate in general
meetings. All shareholders will be treated on an equal basis, unless there is just
cause for treating them differently.

Pursuantto Bermudalawand common practice for Bermudaincorporated compa-
nies, the shareholders of the Company do not have pre-emption rights in share
issues unless otherwise resolved by the Company. Any decision to issue shares
withoutpre-emptionrights for existing shareholderswill be justified inthe common
interestofthe company and the shareholders.Inthe eventthatthe Company carries
out a share issue without pre-emption rights for existing shareholders, then the
justification will be publicly disclosed in a stock exchange announcement issued
in connection with the share issue.

Anytransactionsthe Company carriesoutinits ownshareswillbe carried outeither
through the Oslo Stock Exchange or with reference to prevailing stock exchange
prices if carried out in another way. If there is limited liquidity in the Company’s
shares, the Company will consider other ways to ensure equal treatment of share-
holders.

The Company does not deviate from Section 4 of the Code.

5 | Shares and Negotiability

Ingeneral, the sharesinthe Company are freely transferable. However, the Board
may decline to register the transfer of any share, where such transfer would, in
the opinion of the Board, likely resultin 50% or more of the aggregate issued and
outstanding share capital of the Company being held orowned directly orindirectly
by individualsorlegal personsresidentfortaxpurposesin Norway, oralternatively,
such shares being effectively connected to a Norwegian business activity, or the
Company otherwise beingdeemeda “Controlled Foreign Company”assuchterm
is defined pursuant to Norwegian tax legislation. The purpose of this provision is
to avoid the Company being deemed a Controlled Foreign Company pursuant to
Norwegian taxrules. This represents a deviation from Section 5 of the Code.

6 | General Meetings

The Annual General Meeting of the Company willnormally take place on or before
31May eachyear.

The Company encouragesallshareholdersto participateinandtovote at General

Meetings. In order to facilitate shareholder participation, the Board ensures that:

« the resolutions and supporting documentation, if any, will be sufficiently
detailed, comprehensive and specific to allow shareholders to understand
and form a view on matters that are to be considered at the General Meeting;

—
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+ theregistrationdeadling, if any, for shareholdersto participate atthe General
Meeting will be setas closely to the date of the General Meeting as practically
possible and permissible under the provisionin the Bye-laws;

« the shareholders will have the opportunity to vote on each individual matter,
including on each candidate nominated for election to the Company’s Board
and Committees (if applicable); and

+ themembersofthe Board, the chairman ofthe nominationcommitteeandthe
auditor (where attendance isregarded as essential) will have the opportunity
to participate atthe General Meeting.

Shareholders who cannot be present at the General Meeting will be given the
opportunity to vote by proxy or to participate by using electronic means. The
Company willin this respect:

«  provide information on the procedure for attending by proxy in the notice;

* nominate a person who will be available to vote on behalf of shareholders as
their proxy;and
prepareaproxyformwhichwill,insofarasthisis possible, be formulatedinsuch
amanner that the shareholder can vote on each item that is to be addressed
and vote for each of the candidates that are nominated for election.

Pursuanttocommon practice for Bermudaincorporated companies,the Company’s
Bye-laws stipulate that the Chairman of the Board will chair the General Meeting
unlessotherwise agreed by amajority ofthose sharesrepresented atthe meeting.In
thisrespect,the Company deviates from Section 6 of the Code. However, there will
be routines to ensure thatanindependent personis available to chair the General
Meeting oraparticularagendawith regardstoany mattersrelated tothe Chairman.

The minutes of the Annual General Meeting will be published on the Company’s
website no later than 15 days after the date of the meeting, and a printed version
can be made available upon request.

7 | Nomination Committee

The Company has a Nomination Committee appointed by the General Meeting
with a Chairman elected by the General Meeting. The Nomination Committee
is laid down in the Company’s Bye-laws with guidelines approved at the Annual
General Meeting.

The Nomination Committee has the responsibility of proposing candidates for
electiontothe Board and the Nomination Committee,and proposing remuneration
tobe paidtomembers ofthese bodies. The Nomination Committee isavailable for
contact with shareholders and maintains regular contact with the Board and the
Company’s Executive Personnel. As part of its work in proposing candidates for
electiontothe Board and the Nomination Committee, the Nomination Committee
willjustifyitsrecommendationsforeach candidate separately and strive to consult
with relevant shareholders concerning proposals for appointment of candidates.

Themembers ofthe Nomination Committee have beenselectedtotakeintoaccount
abroadrange ofshareholderinterests.Inaccordance withthe recommendations
of the Code, the Nomination Committee does not include the Company’s Chief
Executive Officerorany other Executive Personnel of the Company. One of the three
members of the Company’s Nomination Committee isamember ofthe Board. This
represents adeviation from Section 7 of the Code, which will be changed in 2022.

Anup-to-date composition of the Nomination Committee is available onthe Compa-

ny’'s website and the Company will provide shareholders with any deadlines for
submitting proposals for candidates to the Nomination Committee.
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4.4 Corporate Governance

8 | Board of Directors: Composition and Independence

The composition of the Board represents abroad cross-section ofthe Company’s
shareholders,whichensuresthatthey can meetthe Company’s need forexpertise,
capacity, diversity and independence. The Board consists of five members, who
continuetoworktogetherasateamtoexercise propersupervisiononthe manage-
ment of the Company. The majority (four of the five members) are independent of
the Company’slargestshareholder, the Executive Personnel,and material business
connectionsofthe Company. The Board does notinclude any Executive Personnel.
The general meeting elects the chairman of the Board.

Members of the Board will serve foraterm of twoyears, after which they would be
re-evaluated before being considered for re-election. The value of continuity will
be balanced against the need for renewal and independence. Where a member
of the Board has served for a prolonged continuous period, consideration will be
given as to whether the individual Board member in question is still considered
independent of the Company’s Executive Personnel.

Up-to-dateinformation of the Board, the expertise of the Board membersand the
memberswhichare consideredindependentisavailable onthe Company’s website
andinthe Annual Report.

Members of the Board are welcome to own shares in the Company.

The Company does not deviate from Section 8 of the Code.

9 | The Work of the Board of Directors

The Board is ultimately responsible for the management of the Company and for
supervising its day-to-day management. The duties and tasks of the Board are
detailed in the Company’s Bye-laws. The Board has issued instructions for its
ownworkaswellasforthe Executive Personnel with particularemphasison clear
internal allocation of responsibilities and duties. This Report and the instructions
issued by the Board is based on the view that all decisions of unusual character
or major importance rests with the Board, and the authority given to the CEO and
other Executive Personnel is not considered to be of unusual character or major
importance by the Company.

The Company and Board have putin place guidelines onthe handling ofagreements
with related parties which require the Directors and Officers of the Company and
Executive Personnelto notify the Boardifthey directly orindirectly have amaterial
interestin any transaction carried out by the Company. Members of the Board of
Directors and Executive Personnel cannot consider items in which they have a
specialand prominentinterestsothatsuchitemscanbe consideredinanunbiased
and satisfactoryway. In cases oftransactions between the Companyandashare-
holder,ashareholder’s parentcompany, Director, Officer or Executive Personnel of
the Companyor personsclosely related toany such parties, orwithanother company
in the same group, which are notimmaterial for either the Company or the close
associateinvolved, the Board willnormally obtain avaluation fromanindependent
third party, unless the Boardis confidentbased onotherrelevantinformation such
asbenchmarking studies thatitis unnecessary to obtain such valuationto ensure
thatvaluesare notbeing transferred from the Company to related parties. Agree-
ments with related parties are given account forin the Annual Report.

Inordertoconductitswork,the Board eachyear fixesinadvance anumber of regular
scheduled meetingsforthefollowing calendaryear, although additional meetings
may be called by the Chairman. The directors willnormally meetin personbutifso
allowed by the Chairman, may participate in the meeting by means of electronic
communications. Minutes in respect of the meetings of the Board are kept by the
Companyin Bermuda.
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The Board has established an Audit Committee as a preparatory and advisory
committee for the Board, consisting of two members, both of which are also
members of the Board. Both members of the Audit Committee areindependent.

The Board has also established a Remuneration Committee in order to ensure
thorough andindependent preparation of mattersrelating tocompensation paid to
the Executive Personnel. The Remuneration Committee consists oftwomembers,
both of whomare also members of the Board,and one of the two members are not
independent of the Company’s largest shareholder. This represents a deviation
from Section 9 of the Code.

Additionally,a Nomination Committee hasbeen established, consisting of one Board
member and two non-Board members. Details on the various board committees
are available on the Company’s website.

The Board carries outan annual evaluation of its performance and expertise. The
various Board Committees are also reviewed for their effectiveness in executing
theirresponsibilities.

10 | Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board ensures that the Company has sound internal control procedures and
systems to manage its exposure to risks related to the conduct of the Company’s
business, to support the quality of its financial reporting, and to ensure compli-
ance with laws and regulations. Such procedures and systems will contribute to
securing shareholders’investmentand the Company’s assets and creating value
for stakeholders.

Managementand internal controlisbased on Company-wide policiesandinternal
guidelinesinadditiontoimplementationand follow-up of ariskassessmentprocess.
The Company’s risk management system is central to the Company’s internal
controls and ensures that the guidelines for integrating considerations related to
stakeholdersintoits creation of value are known and adhered to.

The Board carries outanannual review of the Company’s mostimportantareas of
exposure toriskand itsinternal control arrangements, and an annual supervisory
planforinternalauditworkis approved by the Audit Committee. The internal auditor
is independent from the Executive Personnel and reports directly to the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee follows up on internal controls in connection
with quarterly reviews of the Group’s financial reporting.

The Company does not deviate from Section 10 of the Code.

11 | Remuneration of the Board of Directors

The Annual General Meeting of the Company decides the remuneration of the
Board.Theremuneration of the directorsreflectsits competence, level of activity,
responsibility, use of resources and the complexity of the business activities.

Theremuneration of the directorsis notlinked to the Company’s performance and
thedirectorsdonotreceive profit-related remuneration, share options or retirement
benefits from the Company.

Directorsand/orcompanieswithwhom Directorsare associated shallnotnormally
undertake special tasks for the Company in addition to the directorship. However,
if they do so, the entire Board shall be informed, and the fee will be approved by
the Board.

The Company does not deviate from Section 11 of the Code.
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12 | Remuneration of Executive Personnel

The Board has established guidelines that set out the main principles applied
in determining the salary and other remuneration of the Executive Personnel.
The Guidelines for Executive Remuneration are clear and understandable, and
contribute to the Company’s business strategy, long term interests and financial
sustainability. They are communicated at the Annual General Meeting and are
also made available on the Company’s website. Any change in these guidelines
willbe formally communicated atthe Annual General Meetingand updated onthe
website. Since the Guidelines for Executive Remuneration is not a requirement
under Bermudalaw, the Annual General Meeting has notvoted over the guidelines.

Remuneration of the Executive Personnel is reviewed annually and approved
by the Board based on recommendations by the Remuneration Committee. The
Remuneration Committee considersthe performance of the Executive Personnel
and gathers information from comparable companies before making its recom-
mendation to the Board. Such recommendation aims to ensure convergence of
the financial interests of the Executive Personnel and the shareholders, and is
made easily understandable. Performance-related remuneration to Executive
Personnel are not subject to an absolute limit. This represents a deviation from
Section12 of the Code.

Details of Executive Personnel’sremunerationand any share option programscan
be found inthe Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

13 | Information and Communications

The Company iscommitted to provide informationinamannerthatcontributesto
establishingand maintaining confidence withimportantinterestgroupsand stake-
holders. The information shall be based upon opennessand equal treatmentofall
shareholders. A precondition for the share value to reflect the underlying values
in the Company is that all relevant information is disclosed to the market. Based
onthisand subject to applicable laws and regulations, the Company will keep the
shareholders informed about profit developments, prospects and other relevant
factors for their analysis of the Company’s position and value.

The Company publishes an updated financial calendar with dates for important
events such as the Annual General Meeting, publishing of interim reports, public
presentationsand paymentof dividends (ifapplicable) onthe Company’s website.

Publicinvestor presentationsarearrangedinconnection with submissionofannual
and quarterly results forthe Company. The presentations are also available onthe
Company’s website. Furthermore, continuous dialogue is held with, and presen-
tations are given to analysts and investors, ensuring that at all times, existing and
prospective investors have symmetricalaccesstoshare-price sensitive information.

Shareholders may contact the Company’s investor relations contact at investor.
relations@bwlpg.com [§].

The Company does not deviate from Section 13 of the Code.

14 | Taoke-overs

Inthe eventofatake-overprocess, which shallbe decided by the General Meeting,
the Board will actin accordance with the following principles:

« the Board will ensure that the offer is made to all shareholders, and on the
sameterms;

- the Board will ensure that the shareholders have sufficient information and
time to assess the offer;
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the Board will not undertake any actions intended to give any shareholder or
others an unreasonable advantage at the expense of other shareholders or
the Company;

+  theBoard will strive to be completely open about the take-over situation;

« the Board will not attempt to prevent orimpede the take-over bid unless this
has been decided by the shareholders in a General Meeting in accordance
with applicable law;

«  the Board will not institute measures which have the intention of protecting
the personal interests of its members at the expense of the interests of the
shareholders;

+ theBoardwillensurethatthevaluesandinterestsof allshareholdersare safe-
guarded and thatthe Company’s activities are not unnecessarily interrupted.

Ifan offerismade forthe Company’s shares, the Board willissue a statementevalu-
ating the offerand making arecommendation asto whether shareholders should or
should notacceptthe offer.If the Board findsitself unable to givearecommendation
to the shareholders on whether to accept the offer, it will explain the reasons for
this. The Board’s statementon a bid willmake itclear whether the views expressed
are unanimous, and if this is not the case, it will explain the reasons why specific
members of the Board have excluded themselves from the statement.

The Boardwillconsider whethertoarrange avaluationfromanindependentexpert.
If any director, or close associates of such director, or anyone who has recently
held a position but has ceased to hold such a position as a director, is either the
bidder or has a particular personal interest in the bid, the Board will arrange an
independentvaluation. Thiswillalso apply if the bidder is amajor shareholder. Any
such valuation will either be enclosed with the Board’s statement, reproduced or
referred toin the statement.

The Company does not deviate from Section 14 of the Code.

15 | Auditor

The Company’s auditorisappointed by the Annual General Meeting of the Company
and is responsible for the audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the
Company.

The Auditor participates in the Audit Committee’s review and discussion of the
annual accounts and quarterly interim accounts. In these meetings, the Audit
Committeeisinformed of the annual and quarterly accounts and issues of special
interest. Further, the Auditor reviews for key aspects of the audit, any material
changes in the Company’s accounting principles, comments on any material
estimated accounting figures and reports on all material matters on which there
has been disagreement between the Auditor and the Executive Personnel of the
Company.

The Board andthe Audit Committee willatleastonce ayear review the Company’s
internal control procedures relating to its financial reporting process, including
weaknesses identified by the Auditor and proposals for improvement, together
with the Auditor.

The Board holds a meeting with the Auditor atleastonce ayearatwhichnorepre-
sentative of the Executive Personnel is present. The Board also determines the
rightofthe Executive Personnelto use the Auditor for purposes otherthan auditing.
The Auditor confirms hisindependenceinwriting to the Audit Committee annually.

The Company does not deviate from Section 15 of the Code.
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Board of Director’s Report

Andreas Sohmen-Pao AnneGrethe Dalane

Chairman

Financial Performance

Our Time-Charter Equivalent (TCE) income decreased to
US$466 million in 2021 from US$551 million in 2020, due
to lower freight rates and fleet utilisation. The latter was
largely caused by anincrease intechnical off-hire days for
nine LPG propulsionupgrades. The market was helped by
shipping inefficiencies from delays at the Panama Canal,
and strong winter heating demand in Q4 2021. In a year
characterized by extreme market volatility, we are pleased
to report VLGC TCE earnings of US$31,400 per calendar
day in 2021vs US$36,400 per calendar day in 2020. Our
achieved day rate based on available days was US$33,500
in2021from US$37,900in 2020 and we achieved acommer-
cial utilisation rate of 97% in 2021 from 98% in 2020.

BW LPG reported a net profit after tax (NPAT) of US$186
millionin2021versus US$244 millionin 2020, with adecline
in ROCE and ROE to 10% and 14% respectively in 2021,
from 12% and 20% respectively in 2020. The decrease
in NPAT and returns from 2021 were mainly driven by our
lower TCEincome. Some of this was offset by a write-back
of impairment of US$32 million to our vessel value, and
one-off transactions amounting to US$34 million which
include the sale of six vessels and increasing our equity
share in our Indian joint venture to 88.4%. On the latter,
our equity investmentin BW LPG India was accounted for
as a subsidiary from Q1, and the remeasurement of our
existing equity interest was a gain of US$ 9.8 million. This
gain was derived from an upliftin asset values relating to
the vesselsin the joint venture prior to the transaction. In
December, we announced that Maas Capital entered into
an Agreementtoacquire aminority stake in BW LPG India.
Following this transaction, BW LPG will own approximately
67% in BW LPG India.

MarthaKold Bakkevig

Andrew E.Wolff SonaliChandmal

Parent Company Accounts

Vessels and related assets, as well as external debt
financing, are held in subsidiary companies within BW LPG.
Theinvestmentholdingcompany’s balance sheetincludes
primarily receivables from subsidiaries as well as share-
holders’equity, trade payables and accrued expenses. Total
assetsare US$1,121 million, shareholders’ equity is US$1,121
million, and total liabilities are US$0.3 million. Income is
solely fromdividends from our subsidiary of US$150 million.
Expenses of US$4 million consists of overhead and other
costs related to the operations of the investment holding
company as a listed entity.

Safety

Safetyisafundamental priority atBWLPG,and the Board is
consciousthatsafety performanceisacontinuous process.
BW LPG has programmes to cultivate and emphasize a
“ZeroHarm” safety culture onshoreand atsea.ln2021,our
LTIF(Lost Time Injury Frequency per million working hours)
was 0.28 and our TRCF (Total Recordable Case Frequency)
was 1.42. There were zero fatalities and zero port state
detentions.

Sustainability

This year’s Sustainability Report has been streamlined
to provide key highlights and updates. This Report has
been prepared in accordance with the Global Reporting
Initiative (GRI) Sustainability Reporting Standards: Core
option. The report also includes reference to the United
Nations Sustainable Development Goals (UN SDGs),
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) and
the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures
(TCFD). The Reportincludes progress and performancein
the contextof activitiesrelating to environmental, socialand

—
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governance considerations forthe financial yearended 31
December2021.Overthe course of the year, we added nine
LPG-powered VLGCs to our fleet, for a total of 12 VLGCs
on water - the largest fleet serving customers with the
sector’slowest emissions profile. We continue to play our
parttodecarbonise our operations, maximise the value of
our assets, and not add unneeded tonnage with related
carbon footprint.

Corporate Governance

Globalborders continuedtobelargely closedin2021. The
Board held three meetings virtually,and one face-to-face
meetingin November. The November Board meeting was
held in Bermudaandwas conducted inamannerthatwas
compliant with local safe-distancing requirements.

Risk

BW LPG is exposed to various market, operational, and
financialrisks. The most significantrisks are setoutinthe
IPO (Initial Public Offering) prospectusissuedin November
2013. That document and other information on risks are
available on the Company’s website at www.bwlpg.com.
BW LPG employs an enterprise-wide risk assessment
process to analyse and evaluate risk exposures and to
allocate appropriate resourcestorisk mitigationactivities.
BW LPG's risk mitigation activities consider the unpre-
dictability of shipping and financial markets. BW LPG’s
main risks relate to the inherently cyclical nature of the
shipping industry and the consequent inherent volatility
of financial performance; the potential for oversupply of
shipping capacity to negatively impact freight rates and
asset values; and the dependence on continued export
volumes of relevant hydrocarbons to maintain demand
for shipping. BW LPG has also purchased and maintain a

BWLPGLIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Directorsand Officers Liability Insurance issued by arepu-
table, specialised insurer with appropriate rating.

Going Concern

In light of BW LPG's liquidity position, balance sheet
strength, assets, employment, and continuing cash flow
from operations, the Board confirms thatthe going concern
assumption,uponwhich BW LPG’saccountsare prepared,
continuesto apply.
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Responsibility Statement

We confirmthat, to the best of our knowledge, the financial statements for the year1Januaryto 31December2021have
been preparedinaccordance with currentapplicable accounting standards, and give atrue and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group and the Company taken as awhole. We also confirm that the
Board of Directors’ Reportincludes a true and fair view of the development and performance of the business and the
position of the Group and the Company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the

Group and the Company.
/)z”é%m/\ U U/ﬂ

o1

Andreas Sohmen-Pao Anne Grethe Dalane Andrew E. Wolff
Chairman Director Director

Martha Kold Bakkevig Sonali Chandmal

Director Director
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KPMG LLP Telephone +65 6213 3388

16 Raffles Quay #22-00 Fax +65 6225 0984
Hong Leong Building Internet www.kpmg.com.sg
Singapore 048581

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF BW LPG LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of BW LPG Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”). The financial statements comprise:

e The balance sheet of the Company as at 31 December 2021, the statements of comprehensive
income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

e The consolidated balance sheet of the Group as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2021, and their financial performance, changes
in equity and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors” Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the Group in accordance with
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants /nternational Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) and the Accounting and
Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and
Accounting Entities ('ACRA Code’) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements, the IESBA Code and the ACRA code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Malters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters.

KPMG LLP (Registration No. TO8LL1267L), an accounting limited

liability partnership registered in Singapore under the Limited

Liability Partnership Act (Chapter 163A) and a member firm of the 58
KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated

with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS” REPORT

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF BW LPG LIMITED (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Impairment assessment of vessels

Refer to note 2(a)(2) and note 8 of the Group’s financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying value of the
Group’s vessels including dry docking, amounted to
US$1,792 million (2020: USS1,754 million).

The Group’s vessels are measured at cost less
accumulated  depreciation and impairment loss.
Management considers each vessel to be a separate
cash generating unit (“CGU” or “vessel”).

In FY 2021, the Group primarily wrote-back impairment
charges to their recoverable amounts, following the
sustained recovery of freight rates and asset prices,
from the time when the impairment losses were
recognised. The assessment of the recoverable
amounts of the vessels were based on the higher of
fair value less cost to sell and value-in-use calculation.
The recoverable amount of each vessel is estimated
based on independent third party valuation reports,
which made reference to comparable transaction
prices of similar vessels.

The Group has assessed that the brokers has the
required competency and capability to perform the
valuations. The Group had also considered the
appropriateness of the valuation methodologies and
assumptions used by the brokers.

The determination of the recoverable amount of these
vessels involves a high degree of judgement owing to
the cyclical nature of freight rates, which results in
estimation uncertainties.

We have performed the following audit procedures:

We assessed the Group's process for
identifying and reviewing the CGUs subject to
impairment/ reversal of impairment testing.

We evaluated the independence, competency
and objectivity of the independent brokers.

We assessed the valuation methodologies
and key assumptions used by the
independent brokers in determining vessel
valuations.

No significant matters were noted from our
procedures performed.

BW LPG LIMITED |ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF BW LPG LIMITED (continued)

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all information
included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors” report thereon.

We have obtained all other information prior to the date of this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 3 material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with IFRS, and for such internal control as Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless Management either intends to liquidate the Company or the
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s and the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors” report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assuranceis a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS” REPORT
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF BW LPG LIMITED (continued)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

e  0Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s or the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by Management.

e  (onclude on the appropriateness of Management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s or the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditors” report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company or the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  (Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safequards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF BW LPG LIMITED (continued)

Report on Other Legal and Requlatory Requirements
Report on compliance with Regulation on European Single Electronic Format (ESEF)
Assurance Conclusion

We were engaged by the Board of Directors of BW LPG Limited to report on the “5493006WBEME88YFDW23-
2021-12-31-en” (the “ESEF file”) in the form of an independent reasonable assurance conclusion about
whether the ESEF file has been prepared in accordance with Section 5-5 of the Norwegian Securities Trading
Act (Verdipapirhandelloven) and the accompanying Requlation on European Single Electronic Format (ESEF).

Our conclusion has been formed on the basis of, and is subject to, the matters outlined in this report. We
believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our conclusion.
Based on the procedures performed described in this report and evidence obtained, in our opinion, the ESEF
file have been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of ESEF.

Management’s Responsibilities

Management is responsible for preparing, tagging and publishing the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in the single electronic reporting format required in ESEF, that is free from material misstatement.

This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and presentation of the ESEF file that is free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or
error and those internal controls relevant to the processes over the preparation, tagging and publication of
the ESEF file. It also includes ensuring that the Group complies with the requirements of ESEF, selecting and
applying appropriate policies and procedures in relation to the financial information; making judgements and
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and maintaining adequate records in relation to the ESEF
file.

Our Responsibilities

Our responsibility is examine the ESEF file prepared by Management and to report thereon in the form of an
independent reasonable assurance conclusion based on the evidence obtained. We conducted our work in
accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 - “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”. The standard requires us to
plan and perform procedures to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Group’s consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the ESEF, in all material respects.

The firm applies International Standard on Quality Control 1 and accordingly maintains a comprehensive
system of quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical
requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and requlatory requirements.

We have complied with the independence and other ethical requirements of the IESBA Code and the ACRA
Code, which is founded on fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due
care, confidentiality and professional behavior.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF BW LPG LIMITED (continued)

Our Responsibilities (continued)

The procedures selected depend on our judgment. As part of our work, we performed procedures to obtain
an understanding of the Group’s processes for preparing its consolidated financial statements in the ESEF. We
evaluated the completeness and accuracy of the iXBRL tagging and assessed Management's use of judgement.
Our work comprised reconciliation of the consolidated financial statements tagged under the ESEF with the
audited consolidated financial statements in human-readable format.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Ling Su Min.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
1 March 2022
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BW LPG LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the finandial year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020

Note Uss$’000 Us$’000

Revenue from spot voyages 508,947 679,337
Voyage expenses 4 (222,220) (260,961)
Net income from spot voyages 286,727 418,376
Revenue from time charter voyages 178,856 132,397
TCE income” 465,583 550,773
Net (loss)/gain from commodity contracts 3 (3,631) 897
Fair value gain from equity financial asset 15 1,995 8,307
Vessel operating expenses 4 (100,147) (99,757)
Time charter contracts (non-lease components) 4 (14,427) (13,573)
General and administrative expenses 4 (32,582) (22,758)
Charter hire expenses 4 (9,409) (12,260)
Finance lease income 1,025 1,898
Other operating income - net 4 3,296 480

Operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and

impairment (EBITDA) 311,703 414,001
Depreciation charge 8 (153,653) (152,2006)
Amortisation of intangible assets (546) (241)
157,504 261,554

Gain on derecognition of right-of-use assets 2,536 -
Gain on disposal of vessels 4,290 2,886
Gain on disposal of assets held-for-sale 18,642 9,079
Write-back of impairment charge on vessels 8 31,901 8,200
Remeasurement of equity interest in joint venture 27 9,835 -
Other expense (1,146) -
Operating profit (EBIT) 223,562 281,719
Foreign currency exchange loss - net (792) (205)
Interest income 3,435 4,142
Interest expense (38,552) (43,559)
Derivative loss - (18)
Other finance expense (2,743) (2,822)
Finance expense - net (38,652) (42,462)
Share of profit of a joint venture 11 2,031 5,095
Profit before tax for the financial year 186,941 244,352
Income tax expense 7(3) (521) (499)
Profit after tax for the financial year (NPAT) 186,420 243,853

~ “TCE income” denotes “time charter equivalent income” which represents revenue from time charters and voyage
charters less voyage expenses comprising primarily fuel oil, port charges and commission.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BW LPG LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)
For the financial year ended 37 December 2021

Note 2021 2020
Uss$’000 Us$’000
Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss:
Cash flow hedges
- fair value gain/(loss) 34,782 (69,818)
reclassification to profit or loss 8,863 29,106
Currency translation reserve (2,870) (34)
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax 40,775 (40,746)
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 227,195 203,107
Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 184,821 243,853
Non-controlling interests 1,599 -
186,420 243,853
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 225,933 203,107
Non-controlling interests 1,262 -
227,195 203,107
Earnings per share attributable to the equity holders of the
Company:
(expressed in USS per share)
Basic and diluted earnings per share 6 1.33 1.76

The accompanying notes form an inteqral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BW LPG LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 December 20271

Intangible assets

Loan receivables from a joint venture
Finance lease receivables
Investment in a joint venture

Total other non-current assets

Vessels and dry docking

Right-of-use assets (vessels)

Other property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment

Total non-current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Equity financial assets, at fair value
Derivative financial instruments

Loan receivables from a joint venture
Finance lease receivables

Assets held-for-sale

(ash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

Share capital

Share premium
Treasury shares
Contributed surplus
Other reserves
Retained earnings

Non-controlling interests
Total shareholders’ equity

Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Derivative financial instruments
Other provisions

Total non-current liabilities

Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Derivative financial instruments
Current income tax liabilities
Trade and other payables

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Note

10

o0 0O O OO

12
13
15
16

10
14
17

19
20
16

19

16
7(b)
21

2021 2020
Us$’000 Us$'000
1,878 1,949

- 115,150

10,526 18,061

- 5,027

10,526 138,238
1,791,685 1,754,338
107,736 147,266
77 136
1,899,498 7,901,740
1,911,902 2,041,927
54,584 15,057
191,630 197,824
3,250 28,259
23,682 7,969

- 18,073

7,535 17,266
39,027 -
132,673 90,256
452,381 374,704
2,364,283 2,416,631
1,419 1,419
289,812 289,812
(23,294) (16,895)
685,913 685,913
(42,436) (86,207)
460,648 377,528
1,372,062 1,251,570
13,837 -
1,385,899 1,251,570
659,781 730,732
86,140 143,428
12,962 32,958

- 1,165

758,883 908,283
82,508 126,791
46,400 45,018
11,983 42,805
1,231 995
77,379 41,169
219,507 256,778
978,384 1,165,061
2,364,283 2,416,631

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BW LPG LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax for the financial year
Adjustments for:
- amortisation of intangible assets
depreciation charge
write-back of impairment charge on vessels
gain on disposal of assets held-for-sale
gain on disposal of vessels
gain on derecognition of right-of-use assets (vessels)
remeasurement of equity interest in joint venture
interest income
interest expense
other finance expense
share-based payments
share of profit of a joint venture
finance lease income
fair value gain from equity financial asset

Changes in working capital:
inventories
trade and other receivables
trade and other payables
derivative financial instruments
margin account held with broker
Total changes in working capital:

Tax paid
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from/(used in) investing activities
Additions in property, plant and equipment

Progress payments for vessel upgrades and dry docks?
Additions in intangible assets

Net proceeds from sale/(purchase) of equity financial asset, at FVPL
Proceeds from sale of assets held-for-sale

Proceeds from sale of vessels

Repayment of loan receivables from a joint venture
Repayment of finance lease receivables

Interest received

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities

Cash flows (used in)/from financing activities
Proceeds from bank borrowings
Payment of financing fees
Repayments of bank borrowings
Payment of lease liabilities

Interest paid

Other finance expense paid
(Purchases) /transfer of treasury shares
Drawdown of trust receipts
Repayment of trust receipts

Dividend payment

Net cash used in financing activities

2021 2020
Note US$’000 US$'000
186,941 244352

546 241

8 153,653 152,206
8 (31,901) (8,200)
(18,642) (9,079)
(4,290) (2,886)

(2,536) -

27 (9,835) -
(3,435) (4,142)

38,552 43,559

2,249 1,981

465 227
11 (2,031) (5,095)
(1,025) (1,898)
15 (1,995) (8,301)
306,716 402,965

(39,096) 25,625
(1,316) (10,157)
33,158 (17,637)

(22,885) 13,238
30,874 (15,215)
735 (4,146)
7(b) (148) (1,064)
307,303 397,755
(187,336) (44,512)
15,967 (20,738)
(475) (1,186)
15 27,004 (19,958)
143,605 40,999

50,884 -

1,900 15,400

10 17,266 22,265
2,270 5,612

27(b) 4,633 -
75,718 (2,118)

218,670 220,000

(2,099) -

(301,323) (427,804)

20 (48,621) (51,742)
(34,577) (43,426)

(2,275) (1,911)

(5,540) (2,463)

23,994 200,574

(58,452) (199,420)

26 (99,507) (126,614)
(309,730) (432,806)

1 This will be reclassified from “prepayments” to “property, plant and equipment” upon completion.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BW LPG LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
For the finandial year ended 31 December 2021

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

At 1 January 2021

Cash changes:
Proceeds from bank borrowings and trust receipts
Principal and interest payments

Non-cash changes:

Interest expense

Changes in fair value of interest rate swaps
Additions to lease liabilities

Derecognition of lease liabilities

At 31 December 2021

At 1 January 2020

Cash changes:
Proceeds from bank borrowings and trust receipts
Principal and interest payments

Non-cash changes:

Interest expense

Changes in fair value of interest rate swaps
Additions to lease liabilities

At 31 December 2020

Note 2021 2020
Uss’000 US$'000

73,291 (37,169)

17 56,356 93,525

17 129,647 56,356
Interest

Lease rate

Borrowings liabilities swaps”
Uss$’000 Us$'000 US$'000
857,523 188,446 34,235
240,566 - -
(376,287) (55,110) (11,576)
(135,721) (55,110) (11,576)
20,487 6,489 11,576
- - (20,095)

- 20,866 -

- (28,151) -
20,487 (796) (8,519)
742,289 132,540 14,140
1,064,040 217,895 9,905
420,574 - -
(654,311) (60,292) (8,238)
(233,737) (60,292) (8,238)
27,220 8,550 7,789

- - 24,779

- 22,293 -

27,220 30,843 32,568
857,523 188,446 34,235

Interest rate swaps are hedged against certain portions of bank borrowings.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BW LPG LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the finandial year ended 31 December 2021

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated

financial statements.

1. General information
BW LPG Limited (the “Company”) is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange and incorporated and
domiciled in Bermuda. The address of its registered office is ¢/o Inchona Services Limited,
Washington Mall Phase 2, 4th Floor, Suite 400, 22 Church Street, HM 1189, Hamilton HM EX,
Bermuda.

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries are shipowning and chartering (note 29).

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the
Company on 1 March 2022.
2. Significant accounting policies

(a)  Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), and have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

New standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations, adopted by the
Group

The Group has adopted all the relevant new standards, amendments and interpretations to
published standards as of 1 January 2021.

Other than the amendment relating to the interest rate benchmark reform - Phase 2
Amendments, the adoption of these new standards, amendments, and interpretations to
published standards does not have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group applied the Phase 2 amendments retrospectively. In accordance with the
approach permitted in the Phase 2 amendments, the Group has elected not to restate
comparatives for the prior periods. There is no impact to opening equity balances on
adoption of the amendments as the Group has not replaced any benchmark rate with an
alternative benchmark rate as at 31 December 2020.

Specific policies applicable from 1 January 2021 for interest rate benchmark reforms

The Phase 2 amendments provide practical relief from certain requirements in IFRS. These
reliefs relate to modifications of financial instruments and lease contracts or hedging
relationships triggered by a replacement of a benchmark interest rate in a contract with a
new alternative benchmark rate.

If the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability
measured at amortised cost changes as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, then
the Group updates the effective interest rate of the financial asset or financial liability to
reflect the change that is required by the reform. A change in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform if the following
conditions are met:

BW LPG LIMITED |ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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BW LPG LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(@) Basis of preparation (continued)

New standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations, adopted by the
Group (continued)

- the change is necessary as a direct consequence of the reform; and
- the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent
to the previous basis - i.e. the basis immediately before the change.

If other changes are made to a financial asset or financial liability in addition to changes to
the basis for determining the contractual cash flows required by interest rate benchmark
reform, then the Group first updates the effective interest rate of the financial asset or
financial liability to reflect the change that is required by interest rate benchmark reform.
Subsequently, the Group applies the policies on accounting for modifications to the
additional changes.

The amendments also provide an exception to use a revised discount rate that reflects the
change in interest rate when remeasuring a lease liability because of a lease modification
that is required by interest rate benchmark reform.

Finally, the Phase 2 amendments provide a series of temporary exceptions from certain
hedge accounting requirements when a change required by interest rate benchmark reform
occurs to a hedged item and/or hedging instrument that permit the hedge relationship to
be continued without interruption. The Group applies the following reliefs as and when
uncertainty arising from interest rate benchmark reform with respect to the timing and the
amount of the interest rate benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or hedging
instrument is no longer present:

- the Group amends the designation of a hedging relationship to reflect changes that
are required by the reform without discontinuing the hedging relationship; and

- when a hedged item in a cash flow hedge is amended to reflect the changes that are
required by the reform, the amount accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve is
deemed to be based on the alternative benchmark rate on which the hedged future
cash flows are determined.

Where uncertainty persists in the timing or amount of the interest rate benchmark-based
cash flows of the hedged item or hedging instrument, the Group continues to apply the
existing accounting policies disclosed in note 2(qg). See also note 24 for related disclosures
about risks, financial assets and financial liabilities indexed to IBOR and hedge accounting.

Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
Management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. It also requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions.
Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
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BW LPG LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(@) Basis of preparation (continued)

{itical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements (continued)

The following is a summary of estimates and assumptions which have a material effect.

™

(2)

Useful life and residual value of assets

The Group reviews the useful life and residual value of its vessels at the balance
sheet date and any adjustments are made on a prospective basis. Residual value
is estimated as the lightweight tonnage (LWT) of each vessel multiplied by the
scrap steel price per LWT. If estimates of the residual values are revised, the
amount of depreciation charge in the future years will be changed.

The useful lives of the vessels are assessed periodically based on the condition of
the vessels, market conditions and other regulatory requirements. If the estimates
of useful lives for the vessels are revised or there is a change in useful lives, the
amount of depreciation charge recorded in future years will be changed.

See note 8(d) for further disclosures.

Impairment

The Group assesses at the balance sheet dates whether there is any objective
evidence or indication that the values of the intangible assets, and property, plant
and equipment may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group will
estimate the recoverable amount of the asset, and write down the asset to the
recoverable amount. The assessment of the recoverable amounts of the vessels is
based on the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value-in-use calculations,
with each vessel being regarded as one cash generating unit. The recoverable
amount of vessels is estimated predominantly based on independent third party
broker valuations.

Changes to these brokers’ estimates may significantly impact the impairment
charges recognised and future changes may lead to reversals of currently
recognised impairment charges.

See note 8(c) for further disclosures.
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BW LPG LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(@) Basis of preparation (continued)

(ritical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements (continued)

(3) Revenue recognition

All voyage revenues, demurrage and voyage expenses are recognised on a
percentage of completion basis. Load-to-discharge basis is used in determining
the percentage of completion for all spot voyages and voyages servicing contracts
of affreightment. Under this method, voyage revenue is recognised rateably over
the period from the point of loading of the current voyage to the point of discharge
of the current voyage.

Management uses its judgement in estimating the total number of days of a
voyage based on historical trends, the operating capability of the vessel (speed
and fuel consumption) and the distance of the trade route. Actual results may
differ from estimates.

Revenue from time charters (net of any incentives given to lessees accounted for
as operating leases) is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Demurrage income is assessed at a percentage of the total estimated claims
issued to customers. The estimation of this rate is based on the historical actual
demurrage recovered over the total estimated claims issued to customers.

(b)  Revenue and income recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the
rendering of services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities, net of rebates,
discounts, off-hire charges and after eliminating sales within the Group.

(1) Rendering of services

Revenue from time charters accounted for as operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Revenue from voyage charters is recognised rateably over the estimated length
of the voyage within the respective reporting period, in the event the voyage
commences in one reporting period and ends in the subsequent reporting period.
No additional disclosures in relation to the incremental cost of obtaining the
contract and the remaining performance obligation with an original duration of
one year or less are made as the Group has applied the practical expedients
available in the standard. Additionally, as the Group typically receives payments
within one year from the start of the voyage, there are no additional disclosures
made.

The Group determines the percentage of completion of voyage revenue using the
load-to-discharge method. Under this method, voyage revenue is recognised
evenly over the period from the point of loading of the current voyage to the point
of discharge of the current voyage.
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BW LPG LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Revenue and income recognition (continued)

(1)

(2)

Rendering of services (continued)

Demurrage revenue is recognised as revenue from voyage charter based on
percentage of completion, consistent with the basis of recognising voyage freight
revenue and is assessed at a percentage of the total estimated claims issued to
customers. The estimation of this rate is based on the historical actual demurrage
recovered over the total estimated claims issued to customers.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective
interest method.

(c)  Group accounting

(1)

Subsidiaries
(1) Consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose entities) over which
the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date on which control ceases.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are considered an
impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to
ensure consistency of accounting policies with those of the Group.

Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations and
of net assets of a subsidiary attributable to the interests which are not
owned directly or indirectly by the equity holders of the Company. They
are shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and balance sheet. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to the non-controlling interests
based on their respective interests in a subsidiary, even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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BW LPG LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)  Group accounting (continued)

(1) Subsidiaries (continued)
(1) Acquisitions

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for
business combinations.

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary or
business comprises the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group.

The consideration transferred also includes any contingent consideration
arrangement and any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date
carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date, and any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit
or loss.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree at the date of acquisition either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net identifiable assets.

The excess of (i) the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree, and the acquisition-date fair value of
any previous equity interest in the acquiree over (ii) the fair values of the
identifiable net assets acquired, is recorded as goodwill.

The excess of: (i) fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired over
the (i) consideration transferred; the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree; and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree; is recorded in the profit or loss
during the period when it occurs.

The Group has an option to apply a “concentration test” that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The optional concentration test is met if substantially all
of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

2. Significant acco

unting policies (continued)

(c)  Group accounting (continued)

(1)

(2)

Subsidiaries (continued)
(i) Disposals

When a change in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary results
in a loss of control over the subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary including any goodwill are derecognised. Amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
also reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained
earnings if required by a specific standard.

Any retained equity interest in the entity is remeasured at fair value. The
difference between the carrying amount of the retained interest at the
date when control is lost and its fair value is recognised in profit or loss.

Transactions with non-controlling interests

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a
loss of control over the subsidiary are accounted for as transactions with equity
owners of the Company. Any difference between the change in the carrying
amounts of the non-controlling interest and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to the
equity holders of the Company.

(3) Joint venture

A joint venture is an entity over which the Group has joint control as a result of
contractual arrangements and rights to the net assets of the entity.

Investment in joint ventures are accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting less impairment losses, if any.

(1) Acquisitions

Investment in a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The cost of an
acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of
exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Goodwill on
joint venture represents the excess of the cost of acquisition of the joint
venture over the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifiable net
assets of the joint venture and is included in the carrying amount of the
investment.
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AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(©)

(d)

Group accounting (continued)

(3) Joint venture (continued)
(1) Equity method of accounting

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment is initially
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share
of its joint venture’s post-acquisition profits or losses in the Group’s profit
or loss and its share of the joint venture’s other comprehensive income
in the Group’s other comprehensive income. Dividend received or
receivable from the joint venture is recognised as a reduction of the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in
a joint venture equals to or exceeds its interest in the joint venture, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations to make, or has made, payments on behalf of
the joint venture. If the joint venture subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share
of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint venture
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the joint venture.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transactions provide
evidence of impairment of the assets transferred. The accounting policies
of a joint venture are changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

(1fi) Disposals

Investment in joint venture is derecognised when the Group loses joint
control. If the retained equity interest in the former joint venture is a
financial asset, the retained equity interest is remeasured at fair value.
The difference between the carrying amount of the retained interest at
the date when joint control is lost, and its fair value and any proceeds on
partial disposal, is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Computer software

Acquired computer software are initially capitalised at cost which includes the purchase
price (net of any discounts and rebates) and other directly attributable costs of preparing
the assets for its intended use. They are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. These costs are amortised to profit or loss using the
straight-line method over their estimated remaining useful lives of 5 years.

The useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at least annually. The effects of
any revision in estimate are recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e)  Property, plant and equipment

(M

Measurement

()

(i)

(i)

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses (note 2(f)).

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part
of the cost of property, plant and equipment if the obligation for
dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of
acquiring or using the asset.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate components of
property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation

()

(i)

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using a
straight-line method to allocate their depreciable amounts over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Vessels 25 years
Dry docking/Scrubbers 2.5 - 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 - 5 years

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of
property, plant and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted as
appropriate, at least annually. The effects of any revision in estimate are
recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise.

The Group revised the useful life of its vessels from 30 years to 25 years
on 1 January 2020 and has applied this revision on a prospective basis.

Significant components of individual assets are assessed and if a
component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that
asset, that component is depreciated separately. The remaining carrying
amount of the old component as a result of a replacement will be written
off to profit or loss.
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AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
(3) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment, including
replacing a significant component, that has already been recognised, is added to
the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance expenses are
recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(4) Disposal

On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets with finite lives, property, plant and equipment and investment in a joint
venture are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or an
indication that these assets may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair
value less cost to sell and value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless
the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other
assets. If this is the case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit (“CGU") to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. The difference
between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment loss
in profit or loss.

An impairment loss for an asset (or CGU) is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s (or CGU’s) recoverable amount since the
last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of this asset (or CGU) is increased
to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of accumulated depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in prior years. A reversal of
impairment loss for an asset (or CGU) is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(9)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

A derivative financial instrument is initially recognised at its fair value on the date the
contract is entered into and is subsequently carried at its fair value. The method of
recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as
a hedge instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates
each hedge as either: (3) fair value hedge or (b) cash flow hedge.

For derivative financial instruments that are not designated or do not qualify for hedge
accounting, any fair value gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss as derivative
gain/(loss) when the change arises.

At the inception of the transaction, the Group documents the relationship between the
hedging instruments and hedged items as well as, the risk management objective and
strategies for undertaking various hedging transactions. The Group also documents its
assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives
designated as hedging instruments are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value
or cash flows of the hedged items.

Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedging relationship, and through
periodic prospective effectiveness assessments to ensure that an economic relationship
exists between the hedged item and hedging instrument.

The Group enters into hedge relationships where the critical terms of the hedging
instrument match exactly with the terms of the hedged item, and so a qualitative
assessment of effectiveness is performed. If changes in circumstances affect the terms of
the hedged item such that the critical terms no longer match exactly with the critical terms
of the hedging instrument, the Group uses the hypothetical derivative method to assess
effectiveness.

The carrying amount of a derivative designated as a hedge is presented as a non-current
asset or liability if the remaining expected life of the hedged item is more than 12 months,
and as a current asset or liability if the remaining expected life of the hedged item is less
than 12 months. The fair value of a trading derivative is classified as a current asset or
liability.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments represents the amount estimated by banks
or brokers that the Group will receive or pay to terminate the derivatives at the balance
sheet date.
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BW LPG LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(9)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)

Hedges directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform

Phase 1 amendments: Prior to interest rate benchmark reform - when there is uncertainty
arising from interest rate benchmark reform

For the purpose of evaluating whether there is an economic relationship between the
hedged item(s) and the hedging instrument(s), the Group assumes that the benchmark
interest rate is not altered as a result of interest rate benchmark reform.

For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the Group assumes that the benchmark
interest rate will not be altered as a result of interest rate benchmark reform for the purpose
of assessing whether the forecast transaction is highly probable and presents an exposure
to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect profit or loss.

The Group will cease to apply the specific policy for assessing the economic relationship
between the hedged item and the hedging instrument (i) to a hedged item or hedging
instrument when the uncertainty arising from interest rate benchmark reform is no longer
present with respect to the timing and the amount of the interest rate benchmark-based
cash flows of the respective item or instrument or (i) when the hedging relationship is
discontinued. For its highly probable assessment of the hedged item, the Group will no
longer apply the specific policy when the uncertainty arising from interest rate benchmark
reform about the timing and the amount of the interest rate benchmark-based future cash
flows of the hedged item is no longer present, or when the hedging relationship is
discontinued.

Phase 2 amendments: Replacement of benchmark interest rates — when there is no longer
uncertainty arising from interest rate benchmark reform

The basis for determining the contractual cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging
instrument may be modified as required by the IBOR reform. A change in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform if the
following conditions are met:
- the change is necessary as a direct consequence of the reform; and
- the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically
equivalent to the previous basis - i.e the basis immediately before the change.

For these modifications, the Group amends the hedge documentation of that hedging
relationship to reflect the change(s) required by interest rate benchmark reform when there
is no longer uncertainty about the cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging instrument.

For this purpose, the hedge designation is amended only to make one or more of the
following changes:
- designating an alternative benchmark rate as the hedged risk;
- updating the description of hedged item, including the description of the
designated portion of the cash flows or fair value being hedged; or
- updating the description of the hedging instrument.
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2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)

Hedges directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform

Phase 2 amendments: Replacement of benchmark interest rates — when there is no longer
uncertainty arising from interest rate benchmark reform (continued)

The Group amends the description of the hedging instrument only if the following
conditions are met:

it makes a change required by interest rate benchmark reform by changing the
basis for determining the contractual cash flows of the hedging instrument or using
another approach that is economically equivalent to changing the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of the original hedging instrument; and
the original hedging instrument is not derecognised.

These amendments in the formal hedge documentation do not constitute the
discontinuation of the hedging relationship or the designation of a new hedging
relationship.

If other changes are made in addition to those changes required by interest rate benchmark
reform described above, then the Group first considers whether those additional changes
result in the discontinuation of the hedge accounting relationship. If the additional changes
do not result in discontinuation of the hedge accounting relationship, then the Group
amends the formal hedge documentation for changes required by interest rate benchmark
reform as mentioned above.

(1) Interest rate swaps

The Group has entered into interest rate swaps that are cash flow hedges for the
Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on its borrowings. These contracts entitle the
Group to receive interest at floating rates on notional principal amounts and aoblige
the Group to pay interest at fixed rates on the same notional principal amounts,
thus allowing the Group to raise borrowings at floating rates and swap them into
fixed rates. The Group hedges up to 75% of its floating rate borrowings and the
hedged item is identified as a proportion of the outstanding amount of the
borrowings. As all critical terms matched during the year, the economic
relationship was assessed to be 100% effective.

The fair value changes on the effective portion of interest rate swaps designated
as cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income, accumulated
in the fair value reserve and reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged interest
expense on the borrowings is recognised in profit or loss. The fair value changes
on the ineffective portion of interest swaps are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g)  Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)

(2) Forward bunker swaps

The Group has entered into forward bunker swaps that are cash flow hedges for
the Group's exposure to cash flow variability for its forecasted bunker purchases.
These contracts entitle the Group to receive bunker at floating rates and oblige the
Group to pay for bunker at fixed prices, or in some contracts to pay a fixed
incremental spread (between high and low sulphur fuel oil) for low sulphur fuel
oil. It was assessed that the economic relationship between the forward bunker
swaps and the hedged item was effective as the critical terms match.

The fair value changes on the effective portion of the forward bunker swaps
designated as cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified in the periods when the hedged
item affects profit or loss.

(3) Forward freight agreements (FFAs)

The Group has entered into FFAs that are cash flow hedges for the Group's
exposure to cash flow variability for its forecasted freight earnings. These contracts
entitle the Group to receive fixed freight rates and oblige the Group to pay floating
freight rates for the volumes transacted. This effectively hedges the forecasted
freight revenue contracted at future market freight rates. It was assessed that the
economic relationship between the FFAs and the hedged item was effective as
the critical terms match.

The fair value changes on the effective portion of the FFAs designated as cash flow
hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income. Amounts accumulated in
equity are reclassified in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss.

(h)  Financial assets
(1) Financial assets at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following
conditions and is not designated as a FVTPL:

- itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised costs, are presented as “loan receivables
from a joint venture” (note 9), “finance lease receivables” (note 10) “trade and
other receivables” (note 13) and “cash and cash equivalents” (note 17) in the
consolidated balance sheet.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(h)  Financial assets (continued)

(M

Financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

These financial assets are initially recognised at their fair values plus transaction
costs and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less accumulated impairment losses.

The Group managed these groups of financial assets by collecting the contractual
cash flow and these cash flows represent solely payment of principal and interest.
Accordingly, these groups of financial assets are measured at amortised cost
subsequent to initial recognition.

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses (ECLS)
associated with these groups of financial assets.

For trade receivables, finance lease receivables and other receivables - related
party, the Group applied the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables.

For loan receivables from a joint venture and cash and cash equivalents, the
general 3 stage approach is applied. Credit loss allowance is based on 12-month
ECL if there is no significant increase in credit risk since the initial recognition of
the assets. If there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
lifetime ECL will be calculated and recognised.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed
credit assessment and includes forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is
held); or

the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

When the asset becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
amount. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised
against the same line item in profit or loss.

The impairment allowance is reduced through profit or loss in a subsequent period
by the amount of ECL reversal that is required to adjust the loss allowance to the
amount that is required to be recognised at the reporting date.
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2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(h) Financial assets (continued)
(1) Financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

These assets are presented as current assets except for those that are expected to
be realised later than 12 months after the balance sheet date, which are presented
as non-current assets.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the
contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership
and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

(2) Equity Investments

Equity investments are initially recognised at its fair value. Transaction costs are
expensed in profit or loss.

(i) The Group subsequently measures all its equity investments at their fair
values. Equity investments are classified as fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL") with movements in their fair values recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which the changes arise. Dividends from equity
investments are recognised in profit or loss as “dividend income”.

(ii) On disposal of an equity investment, the difference between the carrying
amount and sales proceed is recognised in profit or loss if there was no
election made to recognise fair value changes in other comprehensive
income. If there was an election made, any differences between the
carrying amount and sales proceed amount would be recognised in other
comprehensive income and transferred to retained profits along with the
amount previously recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that asset.

(i)  Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and
subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is taken to profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are presented as current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the balance sheet date, in which case they are presented as non-current liabilities.

(j))  Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
using the effective interest method except for those costs that are directly attributable to
the construction of vessels. This includes those costs on borrowings acquired specifically for
the construction of vessels, as well as those in relation to general borrowings used to
finance the construction of vessels.

FOREWORD | AT AGLANCE | PERFORMANCE | GOVERNANCE | FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | OTHER INFORMATION



BW LPG LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the finandial year ended 31 December 2021

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

() Borrowing costs (continued)

Borrowing costs on borrowings acquired specifically for the construction of vessels are
capitalised in the cost of the vessel under construction during the period of construction
until the Group takes delivery of the vessels. Borrowing costs on general borrowings are
capitalised by applying a capitalisation rate to the construction expenditures that are
financed by general borrowings.

The basis for determining the contractual cash flows of the borrowing may be modified as
required by the IBOR reform. A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform if the following conditions are met:

- the change is necessary as a direct consequence of the reform; and
- the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent
to the previous basis - i.e. the basis immediately before the change.

For this purpose, the Group updated the effective interest rate of the borrowing to reflect
the change that is required.

If other changes are made in addition to those changes required by interest rate benchmark
reform described above, then the Group first updated the effective interest rate of the
borrowing to reflect the change that is required by interest rate benchmark reform. Then
the Group applied the policies on accounting for modification to the additional changes.

(k)  Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities to pay for goods or services provided to the
Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, and are derecognised when the Group’s
obligation has been discharged or cancelled or expired.

(1) As a lessee:

At the inception of the contract, the Group assesses if the contract contains a lease.
A contract contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Reassessment is
only required when the terms and conditions of the contract are changed.

The Group recognised a right-of-use asset and lease liability at the lease
commencement date. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost which comprises
the initial measurement of lease liabilities adjusted for any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date and lease incentive received. Any initial direct
costs that would not have been incurred if the lease had not been obtained are
added to the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

() Leases (continued)
(1) As a lessee: (continued)

The right-of-use assets are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses (note (2f)). Depreciation is
calculated on straight-line method from the commencement date to the to the end
of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to
the Group by the end of the lease term or it is reasonably certain that the Group
will exercise a purchase option. In that case, the right-of-use asset will be
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the
same basis as those of property and equipment.

Right-of-use assets are presented within “Right-of-use assets (vessels)”.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing
rate as the discount rate. From 1 January 2021, where the basis for determining
future lease payments changes as required by interest rate benchmark reform, the
Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments
using the revised discount rate that reflects the change to an alternative benchmark
interest rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the
following:
- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at the commencement date;
amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early
termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate
early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit of
loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Variable lease payments not dependent on an index or rate and lease payments
arising from leases with lease terms less than 12 months are recognised as an
expense 3as incurred, or on a straight-line basis over the lease term and presented
within “charter hire expenses”.

Payments made in relation to the non-lease components of the leases are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

() Leases (continued)

(M

As a lessor:

The Group time charters vessels to non-related parties under operating lease
agreements. The leases have varying terms.

Lessor - Finance leases

Leases where the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of the leased assets to the lessees, are classified as finance leases.
The leased asset is derecognised and the present value of the lease receivable is
recognised on the balance sheet. Each lease payment received is applied against
the gross investment in the finance lease receivable to reduce both the principal
and the unearned finance income. The finance income is recognised in profit or loss
on a basis that reflects a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment in
the finance lease receivable. The Group applies the derecognition and impairment
requirements in IFRS 9 to the net investment in the lease (see note 2(h)).

Initial direct costs incurred by the Group in negotiating and arranging finance leases
are added to finance lease receivables and reduce the amount of income
recognised over the lease term.

Lessor - Operating leases

Leases where the Group retains substantially all risks and rewards incidental to
ownership are classified as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases
(net of any incentives given to the lessees) is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

As an intermediate lessor

In classifying a sublease, the Group as an intermediate lessor classifies the sublease
as a finance or an operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head lease, rather than the underlying asset.

When the sublease is assessed as a finance lease, the Group derecognises the right-
of-use asset relating to the head lease that it transfers to the sublessee and
recognised the net investment in the sublease within “Finance lease receivables”.
Any differences between the right-of-use asset derecognised and the net
investment in sublease is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
Lease liability relating to the head lease is retained on the balance sheet, which
represents the lease payments owed to the head lessor.

When the sublease is assessed as an operating lease, the Group recognise lease
income from sublease in profit or loss within “Revenue from time charter voyages”.
The right-of-use asset relating to the head lease is not derecognised.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(m)  Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as exchange-traded
and over-the-counter securities and derivatives) are based on quoted market prices at the
balance sheet date. The quoted market prices for financial assets are the current bid prices;
the appropriate market prices used for financial liabilities are the current asking prices.

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are

determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes

assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance sheet date.

Where appropriate, quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used.
(n) Inventories

Inventories comprise fuel oil remaining on board and liquefied petroleum gas held for
trading purposes.

Fuel oil is measured at the lower of cost (on a first-in, first-out basis) and net realisable
value.

Liquefied petroleum gas held for trading purposes are measured at fair value less costs to
sell. Any change in fair value is recognised in profit or loss for the period in which it arose.

(0) Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
where as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.
When the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as
a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required
to settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised in profit or loss as finance expense.

Changes in the estimated timing or amount of the expenditure or discount rate are
recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(p) Foreign currency translation

M

(2)

3)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements
of the Group are presented in United States Dollars (“USS”), which is the functional
currency of the Company.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”)
are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign currency exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the
balance sheet date are recognised in profit or loss within “finance expense - net”.

Translation of Group entities” financial statements

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different
from United States Dollars are translated into United States Dollars as follows:

(1) Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the reporting
date;
(i) Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless

this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the dates on the
transactions); and

(i) All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the currency translation
reserve. These currency translation differences are reclassified to profit or
loss on disposal or partial disposal of the entity giving rise to such reserve.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(q) Employee benefits

Employee benefits are recognised as an expense, unless the cost qualifies to be classified
as an asset.

(1) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. An accrual is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

(2) Defined contribution plans

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the
Group pays fixed contributions into separate entities on a mandatory, contractual
or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid.

(3) Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan. The value
of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of options is
recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in the share-based
payment reserve over the vesting period. The total amount to be recognised over
the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the shares
options granted on grant date. Non-market vesting conditions are included in the
estimation of the number of shares under options that are expected to become
exercisable on the vesting date. At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of shares under options that are expected to become
exercisable on the vesting date and recognises the impact of the revision of the
estimates in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
payment reserve over the remaining vesting period.

When the share options are exercised, the proceeds received (net of transaction
costs) and the related balance previously recognised in the share-based payment
reserve are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium, when
new ordinary shares are issued, or to the “treasury shares” account, when treasury
shares are reissued to the employees.

(r)  Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(s) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand and short-term bank deposits less margin account held
with brokers which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(t)  Share capital and treasury shares

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issuance of new common shares are deducted against share premium, a component of the
share capital account.

When any entity within the Group purchases the Company’s common shares (“treasury
shares”), the carrying amount which includes the consideration paid and any directly
attributable transaction cost is presented as a component within equity attributable to the
Company's equity holders, until they are cancelled, sold or reissued.

When treasury shares are subsequently sold or reissued pursuant to an employee share
option scheme, the cost of treasury shares is reversed from the treasury share account and
the realised gain or loss on sale or reissue, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and related income tax, is recognised in the capital reserve.

(u)  Income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s
taxable income, based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the
company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax requlation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions, where
appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(v)  Dividend to Company'’s shareholders

Dividend to Company'’s shareholders is recognised when the dividend is approved.

(w) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to Management whose members are responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments.

(x)  Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held-for-sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held-for-sale and carried at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell if its carrying amount is
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. The
asset is not depreciated or amortised while it is classified as held-for-sale. Any impairment
loss on initial classification and subsequent measurement value less costs to sell (not
exceeding the accumulated impairment loss that has been previously recognised) is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(y)  Commodity contracts

Contracts to buy and sell commodities are accounted for as derivatives at fair value through
profit or loss. Accordingly, the net settlement of these contracts are presented within “Net
(loss)/gain from commodity contracts” on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income.

(z)  Contingent liabilities

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

The Group is involved in certain claims, litigations and disputes. Due to the nature of these

disputes and matters, and the uncertainty of the outcome, the Group believes that possible
obligations arising is remote and the amount of exposure cannot currently be determined.

Net (loss)/gain from commodity contracts

2021 2020

US$’000 Uss000

Net settlement of commodity sale contracts and derivatives® 431,063 247,878
Net settlement of commodity purchase contracts and

derivatives (434,694) (246,981)

Net (loss)/gain from commodity contracts (3,631) 897

Excluded from this amount is US$57.6 million (2020: US$68.0 million) which relates to voyage revenue,
recognised proportionately on a load-to-discharge basis, and recorded within “Revenue from spot voyages”
on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Expenses by nature

2021 2020

USS$’000 USsS'000

Fuel oil consumed 132,399 165,310
Port charges 70,854 75,226
Other voyage expenses 18,967 20,425
Voyage expenses 222,220 260,961
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 37 December 2021

4. Expenses by nature (continued)

2021 2020
Us$’000 Us$'000
Manning costs 48,213 52,007
Maintenance and repair expenses 32,736 31,165
Insurance expenses 4,716 3,740
Other vessel operating expenses 14,482 12,845
Vessel operating expenses 100,147 99,757
Employee compensation (note 5) 18,017 11,631
Directors’ fees 377 397
Audit and other attestation fees 241 207
Other general and administrative expenses 13,947 10,523
General and administrative expenses 32,582 22,758
Time charter-in expenses (short-term) 6,572 8,496
Time charter-in expenses (variable payments) 2,837 3,764
Charter hire expenses 9,409 12,260
Time charter contracts (non-lease components) 14,427 13,573
Sundry income (1,153) (1,656)
Other operating (income)/expenses (2,143) 1,176
Other operating (income)/expenses - net (3,296) (480)
5. Employee compensation
2021 2020
Us$’000 Us$'000
Wages and salaries 16,970 11,035
Share-based payments - equity settled 631 227
Post-employment benefits - contributions to defined contribution
plans 416 369
18,017 11,631
6. Basic and diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss attributable to equity holders
of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the

financial year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss attributable to equity holders
of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
financial year, after adjusting for all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The potential common shares
arising from the Company’s equity-settled, share-based compensation plan does not have a material

impact on the computation of basic earnings per share.
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6. Basic and diluted earnings per share (continued)
2021 2020
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
(USS'000) 184,821 243,853
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding
("000) 138,951 138,234
Basic and diluted earnings per share (USS per share) 1.33 1.76
7. Income tax expense
(@) Income tax expense
2021 2020
Uss$’000 Us$000
Tax expense attributable to profit is made up of:
profit for the financial year:
current income tax 563 390
(over)/under-provision in prior financial years:
current income tax (42) 109
521 499
(b)  Movement in current income tax liabilities
2021 2020
Us$'000 Us$’000
At beginning of the financial year 995 1,560
Income tax expense 521 499
Income tax paid (148) (1,064)
Currency effects (137) -
At end of the financial year 1,231 995

There are no income, withholding, capital gains or capital transfer taxes payable in Bermuda. Income
tax expense reconciliation is as follows:

2021 2020

Us$’000 US$'000

Profit before tax 186,941 244,352
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 0% (2020: 0%) - -
Effects of different tax rates in other countries 521 499
Income tax expense 521 499
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8. Property, plant and equipment

Furniture Right-of-use

and assets
Vessels  Dry docking fixtures (Vessels) Total
US$'000 UsS$'000 UsS$'000 UsS$'000 US$’000

Cost
At 1 January 2021 2,250,450 68,444 546 213,408 2,532,848
Additions 157,395 29,932 9 20,866 208,202
Acquisition of subsidiary 189,999 7,001 - - 197,000
Disposals (148,055) (9,130) - (57,615)  (214,800)
Reclassified to assets held-

for-sale (note 14) (179,155) (8,206) - - (187,361)
Write off on completion of

dry docking costs (24,313) - - (24,313)
Currency effects (3,547) (114) - - (3,661)
At 31 December 2021 2,267,087 63,614 555 176,659 2,507,915
Accumulated depreciation

and impairment charge
At 1 January 2021 520,253 44,303 410 66,142 631,108
Depreciation charge 104,030 14,774 68 34,781 153,653
Disposals (59,138) (5,454) - (32,000) (96,592)
Write-back of impairment

charge (31,901) - - - (31,901)
Reclassified to assets held-

for-sale (note 14) (22,567) (804) - - (23,371)
Write off on completion of

dry docking costs (24,313) - - (24,313)
Currency effects (124) (43) - - (167)
At 31 December 2021 510,553 28,463 478 68,923 608,417
Net book value
At 37 December 2021 1,756,534 35,151 77 107,736 1,899,498
Cost
At 1 January 2020 2,363,978 81,469 546 191,115 2,637,108
Additions 30,942 13,570 - 22,293 66,805
Disposals (118,912) (3,793) - - (122,705)
Reclassified to assets held-

for-sale (note 14) (25,558) (5,291) - - (30,849)
Write off on completion of

dry docking costs (17,511) - - (17,511)
At 31 December 2020 2,250,450 68,444 546 213,408 2,532,848
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8. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Furniture Right-of-use
and assets
Vessels  Dry docking fixtures (Vessels) Total

US$’000 USs$'000 USs$'000 US$'000 US$’000
Accumulated depreciation

and impairment charge
At 1 January 2020 487,735 54,090 285 26,086 568,196
Depreciation charge 100,613 15,612 125 35,856 152,206
Disposals (35,332) (2,597) - - (37,929)
(Write-back of) /Impairment

charge (12,400) - - 4,200 (8,200)
Reclassified to assets held-

for-sale (note 14) (20,363) (5,291) - - (25,654)
Write off on completion of

dry docking costs - (17,511) - - (17,511)
At 31 December 2020 520,253 44,303 410 66,142 631,108
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 1,730,197 24,141 136 147,266 1,901,740

(3a) Vessels with an aggregate carrying amount of US$1,791.7 million as at 31 December 2021
(2020: USS$1,619.3 million) are secured on borrowings (note 19).

(b) As at 31 December 2021, the Group has capital commitments relating to vessel upgrade of
US$11.5 million (2020: US$70.6 million).

(c) In FY 2021, the Group wrote-back an impairment charge amounting to US$31.9 million (FY
2020: USS$12.4 million) of certain vessels to their recoverable amounts following the recovery
of the freight market and asset prices from when the impairment losses were recognised. The
assessment of the recoverable amounts of the vessels were based on the higher of fair value
less cost to sell and value-in-use calculation, with each vessel being regarded as one cash
generating unit. The recoverable amount of each vessel is estimated based on independent
third party valuation reports, which made reference to comparable transaction prices of similar
vessels. These are regarded as level 2 fair values under the fair value hierarchy of IFRS 13 Fair
value measurement that is also applicable for financial assets/liabilities. The Group has
assessed that the brokers had the required competency and capability to perform the
valuations. The Group had also considered the appropriateness of the valuation methodologies
and assumptions used by the brokers.

(d) 0n 1 January 2020, the Group revised the useful life of its vessels from 30 years to 25 years
given the recent developments in market conditions arising from new requlatory requirements.
The revision has been applied on a prospective basis from 1 January 2020. The increase in
depreciation for FY 2020 was US$23 million. The expected increase in depreciation is US$21
million per year till FY 2025 and a decrease of US$128 million in aggregate thereafter,
calculated based on the Group’s current fleet of vessels as at 31 December 2020.

9. Loan receivables from a joint venture

In Q2 2021, the Group converted US$80.6 million of loan receivables from the joint venture into
equity, increasing its equity ownership in the joint venture from 50% to 88.4% (note 27). The
remaining balance was repaid in cash.
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10. Finance lease receivables

In 2019, back-to-back time charter contracts were entered into and the subleases were accounted
for as finance leases under IFRS 16. The adoption of IFRS 16 resulted in the recognition of net
investment in subleases as finance lease receivables and the movements as follows:

2021 2020

Uss$’000 US$'000

At beginning of the financial year 35,327 57,592
Repayments (17,266) (22,265)
At end of the financial year 18,061 35,327

The table below sets out a maturity analysis of lease receivables, showing the undiscounted lease

payments to be received after the reporting date.

Less than Between 1  Between2  Between3  Between 4
1vyear and2years and3vyears and4vyears and5 vyears Total
US$’000 US$’000 USS$'000 US$’000 US$’000 UsS$’000
At 31 December
2021
Undiscounted lease
receivables 8,120 8,120 2,707 18,947
Less: Unearned
finance income (585) (278) (23) (886)
7,535 7,842 2,684 - - 18,061
At 31 December
2020
Undiscounted lease
receivables 18,291 8,120 8,120 2,707 37,238
Less: Unearned
finance income (1,025) (585) (278) (23) (1,911)
17,266 7,535 7,842 2,684 35,327
11. Investment in a joint venture
The movement in the investments in joint venture is as follows:
2021 2020
US$’000 USss'000
At beginning of the financial year 5,027 2,861
Share of profit after tax 2,031 5,095
Unrealised profit on disposal of vessels between related
parties (1,639) (2,895)
Deemed disposal of joint venture (note 27) (5,419) -
Currency translation adjustments - (34)
At end of the financial year - 5,027
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12. Inventories

2021 2020
Us$’000 Uss'000
Fuel oil, at cost 26,595 15,057
Liquefied petroleum gas, held for trading 27,989 -
54,584 15,057

13.  Trade and other receivables
2021 2020
Uss$'000 Uss$'000
Trade receivables - non-related parties 143,723 148,784
Other receivables - non-related parties 17,083 2,413
Other receivables - related parties” 1,317 1,589
162,123 152,786
Prepayments 29,507 45,038
191,630 197,824

~ Related parties refer to corporations controlled by a shareholder of the Company.

Contract assets - accrued revenue of US$35.1 million (2020: US$56.6 million) had been presented
within “Trade receivables - non-related parties”. These relate to the Group’s rights to consideration
for proportional performance from voyage charters-in-progress at the balance sheet date. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional which
typically occurs in the next financial year. This usually occurs when the Group invoices the customers.

Other receivables due from related parties comprise mainly advances for vessel operating expenses.
They are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The carrying amounts of trade and
other receivables, principally denominated in USS, approximate their fair values due to the short-
term nature of these balances.

14. Assets held-for-sale

2021 2020

USS$'000 Us$’000

At beginning of the financial year - 26,725
Reclassified from property, plant and equipment (note 8) 163,990 5,195
Disposal (124,963) (31,920)
At end of the financial year 39,027 -

As at 31 December 2021, assets held-for-sale comprised one VLGC that has been committed for sale
to a non-related party.
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15.  Equity financial assets, at fair value

2021 2020
Us$’000 UsS$'000
At beginning of financial year 28,259 -
Additions 4,072 19,958
Disposals (31,076) -
Fair value gains 1,995 8,301
At end of financial year 3,250 28,259
16.  Derivative financial instruments
2021 2020
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Us$'000 US$'000 Us$’000 Us$’000
Interest rate swaps - (14,140) - (34,235)
Forward freight agreements
and related bunker swaps 17,442 (10,789) 3,108 (18,761)
Commodity contracts and
derivatives 6,079 - 4,146 (22,767)
Forward foreign exchange
contracts 161 (16) 715 -
23,682 (24,945) 7,969 (75,763)
Non-current - (12,962) - (32,958)
Current 23,682 (11,983) 7,969 (42,805)
23,682 (24,945) 7,969 (75,763)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has interest rate swaps with total notional principal amounting
to US$519.4 million (2020: US$587.8 million). The Group’s interest rate swaps mature between 2022
to 2028.

Interest rate swaps were transacted to hedge the interest rate risk on bank borrowings. After taking
into account the effects of these contracts, for part of the bank borrowings, the Group would
effectively pay fixed interest rates ranging from 1.3% per annum to 2.9% per annum and would
receive a variable rate equal to either USS three-month LIBOR or USS six-month LIBOR. Hedge
accounting was adopted for these contracts.

Forward freight agreements and related bunker swaps were transacted to hedge freight rates and
bunker price risks. Hedge accounting was adopted for these contracts.

Commodity contract derivatives comprise physical buy and sell commodity contracts measured at
fair value through profit or loss, and commodity derivative contracts. The Group did not adopt hedge
accounting for these contracts.

Forward foreign exchange contracts were transacted to hedge foreign exchange risks. The Group did
not adopt hedge accounting for these contracts.
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17.  (ash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
comprise the following:

2021 2020

Us$’000 Us$’000

Cash and cash equivalents per consolidated balance sheet 132,673 90,256

Less: Margin account held with broker * (3,026) (33,900)
(Cash and cash equivalents per consolidated statement of

cash flows 129,647 56,356

“ Margin account held with brokers are collateral for open derivative financial instruments.

18.  Share capital and other reserves

(3)  Issued and fully paid share capital

(i) As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company’s share capital comprised
141,938,998 fully paid common shares with a par value of US$0.01. Fully paid
common shares carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividend as and when
declared by the Company.

(i) The Company operates two equity-settled, share-based compensation plans. The
2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP 2015") was fully vested in 2018 and
common shares of 2,197 were issued to certain employees. The LTIP 2015 was
replaced by a 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP 2017"). For LTIP 2017, at the
end of the vesting periods between February 2021 and February 2024, common
shares of 2,012,424 (2020: 1,657,424) may be issued to certain employees.

(b)  Share premium

The differences between the consideration for common shares issued and their par value
are recognised as share premium.

(c)  Capital reserve

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, negative capital reserve amounted to
US$36.3 million, which comprises negative reserve arising from the business acquisition of
entities under common control using the pooling-of-interest method of accounting of
US$41.5 million and a gain on disposal of treasury shares of US$5.2 million in December
2015.

(d)  Other reserve
Other reserve comprise of US$2.2 million of tonnage tax reserves of the Group's subsidiary,

BW Global United LPG India Private Limited. This amount is computed based on the
subsidiary’s profits pursuant to Section 115 JB to Tonnage tax reserve.
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18.  Share capital and other reserves (continued)

(e)  Share-based payment reserve

Certain employees are entitled to receive common shares in the Company. This award is
recognised as an expense in the consolidated profit or loss with a corresponding increase
in the share-based payment reserve over the vesting periods. For the year ended
31 December 2021, an expense of US$0.47 million (2020: US$0.23 million) was recognised
in the consolidated profit or loss with a corresponding increase (2020: increase) recognised
in the share-based payment reserve.

(fy  Treasury shares

Number of shares Amount
2021 2020 2021 2020
‘000 000 Uss$'000 Uss'000
Balance as at 1 January 3,842 3,321 16,895 14,432
Transfer of treasury shares (213) - (937) -
Purchases of treasury shares 1,372 521 7,336 2,463
Balance as at 31 December 5,001 3,842 23,294 16,895

Pursuant to the Company’s Long-term Management Share Option Plan (“LTIP 2017")
announced on 21 April 2017, the fourth tranche of 521,424 shares were purchased during
the period from 4 March 2020 to 3 June 2020 at an average price of US$4.72 (NOK44.10)
per share for an aggregate consideration of US$2.5 million (NOK23.0 million).

On 30 March 2021, 213,000 shares were transferred to certain members of the
management in settlement of their exercising of certain vested options granted under LTIP
2017.

On 8 December 2021, the Company announced a share buy-back programme, under which
the Company will purchase up to 10 million common shares for a maximum amount of
USS50 million, to be held as treasury shares. As at 31 December 2021, the Company has
purchased a total of 1,371,192 of its own common shares at an average price of US$5.33
(NOK47.96) per share for an aggregate consideration of US$7.3 million (NOK65.8 million).

19. Borrowings

2021 2020
US$'000 Uss’000

Borrowings
Bank borrowings 740,243 821,169
Trust receipts - 34,457
Interest payable 2,046 1,897
742,289 857,523
Non-current 659,781 730,732
Current 82,508 126,791
742,289 857,523
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19.  Borrowings (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, bank borrowings amounting to US$742.3 million (2020: US$823.71 million)
are secured by mortgages over certain vessels of the Group (note 8). These bank borrowings are
interest bearing at three-month or six-month US Dollar LIBOR plus a margin. The carrying amounts
of non-current and current borrowings approximate their fair values because interest rates are
repriced on a reqular basis.

20. Lease liabilities

2021 2020
Us$’000 US$’000
At beginning of financial year 188,446 217,895
Additions 20,866 22,293
Lease modifications (28,151) -
Repayments (48,621) (51,742)
At end of financial year 132,540 188,446
Non-current 86,140 143,428
Current 46,400 45,018
132,540 188,446
21.  Trade and other payables
2021 2020
Uss’000 US$'000
Trade payables - non-related parties 38,570 6,418
Other payables - non-related parties 151 178
Other payables - related parties” 7 16
Charter hire received in advance 4,591 6,633
Other accrued operating expenses 34,060 27,924
77,379 41,169

~ Related parties refer to corporations controlled by a shareholder of the Company.

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables, principally denominated in USS, approximate
their fair values due to the short-term nature of these balances.

Other payables due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and are payable on demand.
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22.  Related party transactions
In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
following transactions took place between the Group and related parties during the financial year at
terms agreed between the parties:

(a)  Services

2021 2020

Us$’000 US$'000

Corporate service fees charged by related parties” 6,731 6,724
Ship management fees charged by related parties” 1,501 2,073
Corporate service fees charged to related parties” 181 468

~ Related parties refer to corporations controlled by a shareholder of the Company.

(b) Key management’s remuneration

2021 2020
Us$’000 US$'000
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 3,252 2,114

Post-employment benefits - contributions to defined
contribution plans and share-based payment 533 193
Directors’ fees 377 397
4,162 2,704

(c)  Others

2021 2020
Us$’000 US$'000
Interest income from a joint venture 1,849% 3,617
Sale of vessels to a joint venture 45,000" 90,000

* Transactions with a joint venture prior to acquisition (note 27)

23. Commitments

@) Commitments - as a lessor

The Group time charters vessels to non-related parties under operating lease agreements.
The leases have varying terms.

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases
contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised as receivables, are as follows:

2021 2020

Uss$'000 Uss'000

Less than one year 40,257 78,340
One to two years 14,485 16,837
54,742 95,177

(b) Sub-leasing - 3s a lessor

Included within “Revenue from time charter voyages” was income from sub-leasing of
right-of-use assets of US$15.6 million (2020: US$3.4 million).
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24.

Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on financial performance of the Group. Where applicable, the Group uses financial
instruments such as interest rate swaps, forward freight agreements, bunker swaps, and commodity
contracts to hedge certain financial risk exposures.

The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the objectives and underlying principles of financial
risk management for the Group.

(@)  Market risk
(i) Fuel price risk

The Group is exposed to the risk of variations in fuel oil costs, which are affected
by the global political and economic environment. In 2021, fuel oil costs comprised
36% (2020: 42%) of the Group's total operating expenses (excluding amortisation,
depreciation and charter hire expenses).

(ii) Currency risk

The Group’s business operations are not exposed to significant foreign exchange
risk as it has no significant reqular transactions denominated in foreign currencies.

(iii) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk arising from the investments
held by the Group which are classified as equity financial assets, at FVPL. These
securities are unquoted. If prices for these equity securities increase /decrease by
20% with other variables including tax rate being held constant, the profit after
tax will be higher/lower by approximately US$0.7 million (2020: USS$2.8 million).

(iv) Interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s bank borrowings are at variable rates. The Group has entered into
interest rate swaps to swap floating interest rates to fixed interest rates for certain
portions of the bank borrowings (note 19). If the USS interest rates
increase/decrease by 10 basis points (2020: 15 basis points) with all other
variables including tax rate being held constant, the profit after tax will be
lower /higher by approximately US$0.3 million (2020 profit after tax will be
lower/higher by approximately US$0.4 million) as a result of higher/lower
interest expense on these borrowings; the other comprehensive loss will be
lower /higher by approximately USS$1.4 million (2020: other comprehensive loss
will be lower /higher by approximately U55$2.9 million).

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken
globally, including the replacement of some interbank offered rates (IBORs) with
alternative nearly risk-free rates (referred to as ‘IBOR reform’). The Group has
exposures to IBORs on its financial instruments that will be replaced or reformed
as part of these market-wide initiatives. The Group’s main IBOR exposure at 31
December 2021 was indexed to US dollar LIBOR. The alternative reference rate for
the US dollar LIBOR is the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR). US dollar LIBOR
is expected to be discontinued after June 2023. The Group is in the process of
implementing appropriate fallback provisions for all US dollar LIBOR indexed
exposures by the end of 2022.
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24.  Financial risk management (continued)

(@) Market risk (continued)

(iv)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group holds derivatives for risk management purposes, some of which are
designated in hedging relationships. These derivatives have floating legs that are
mainly indexed to US dollar LIBOR. The Group’s derivative instruments are
governed by contracts based on the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association (ISDA)'s master agreements. While ISDA has provided fallback
provisions for the cessation of IBOR, the Group plans to negotiate the modifications
of the derivatives in conjunction with the hedged instruments to minimise hedge
ineffectiveness.

The Group monitors the progress of transition from IBORs to new benchmark rates
by reviewing the total amounts of contracts that have yet to transition to an
alternative benchmark rate and the amounts of such contracts that include an
appropriate fallback clause. The Group considers that a contract is not yet
transitioned to an alternative benchmark rate when interest under the contract is
indexed to a benchmark rate that is still subject to IBOR reform, even if it includes
a fallback clause that deals with the cessation of the existing IBOR (referred to as
an ‘unreformed contract’). As at 1 January 2021 and at 31 December 2021, the
Group does not yet have any contracts with appropriate fallback clauses.

The Group holds interest rate swaps for risk management purposes which are
designated in cash flow hedging relationships. The interest rate swaps have
floating legs that are indexed to various IBORs. The Group’s derivative instruments
are governed by contracts based on the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association (ISDA) master agreements. ISDA is currently reviewing its standardised
contracts in the light of IBOR reform. When ISDA has completed its review, the
Group expects to negotiate the inclusion of new fall-back clauses with its
derivative counterparties. No derivative instruments have been modified as at 31
December 2021.

The Group has evaluated the extent to which its cash flow hedging relationships
are subject to uncertainty driven by IBOR reform as at 31 December 2021. The
Group’s hedged items and hedging instrtuments continue to be indexed to various
IBORs. These benchmark rates are quoted each day and the IBOR cash flows are
exchanged with its counterparties as usual.

The Group’s cash flow hedging relationships extend beyond the anticipated
cessation date for IBOR. However, there is uncertainty about when and how
replacement may occur with respect to the relevant hedged items and hedging
instruments. Such uncertainty may impact the hedging relationship. The Group
applies the amendments to IFRS 9 issued in December 2019 to those hedging
relationships directly affected by IBOR reform.

Hedging relationships impacted by IBOR reform may experience ineffectiveness
attributable to market participants’ expectations of when the shift from the
existing IBOR benchmark rate to an alternative benchmark interest rate will occur.
This transition may occur at different times for the hedged item and hedging
instrument, which may lead to hedge ineffectiveness.
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24.  Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is diversified over a range of counterparties including several key charterers. The
Group performs ongoing credit evaluation of its charterers and has policies in place to
ensure that credit is extended only to charterers with appropriate credit histories or financial
resources. In this regard, the Group is of the opinion that the credit risk of counterparty
default is appropriately mitigated. In addition, although the trade and other receivables
consist of a small number of customers, the Group has policies in place for the control and
monitoring of the concentration of credit risk. The Group has implemented policies to ensure
cash is only deposited with internationally recognised financial institutions with good credit
ratings.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables, finance lease
receivables, amounts due from related parties and cash and cash equivalents. The Group
has assessed the ECL as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 based on past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions:

(i) General approach

- trade receivables are neither past due nor impaired and are substantially from
companies with a good collection track record with the Group; and

- finance lease receivables are due from customers with good credit standing,
and in the event of default, the Group would be entitled to repossess the
vessels chartered.

(ii) Simplified approach

- bank deposits are not impaired and are mainly deposits with banks with
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies; and
- other receivables from related parties are not past due.

Based on the assessment of the qualitative factors that are indicative of the risk of default,
there have been no significant increases in the credit risk since the initial recognition of
these financial assets, as such, the expected credit losses based on the 12-month ECLs has
been assessed to be insignificant.

There is no significant balance as at the balance sheet date that is past due as substantial
portions of the trade and other receivables represent accrued revenue for voyage charters-
in-progress, unbilled receivables from time charters and unbilled demurrage receivables at
the balance sheet date. The maximum exposure is represented by the carrying value of
each financial asset on the consolidated balance sheet before taking into account any
collateral held.

(c)  Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close
out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Group
maintains sufficient cash for its daily operations via short-term cash deposit at banks and
has access to unutilised portion of revolving facilities offered by financial institutions.
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24.  Financial risk management (continued)

(c)  Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below analyses non-derivative financial liabilities of the Group into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the
contractual maturity date on an undiscounted basis.

Less than Between 1 Between 2
1year  and 2 years and 5 years  Over 5 years

UsS$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 Uss$'000
At 31 December 2021
Trade and other payables 72,788 - - -
Bank borrowings 92,529 91,622 321,824 290,788
Lease liabilities 50,809 35,793 56,208 -
216,126 127,415 378,032 290,788
At 31 December 2020
Trade and other payables 34,536 - - -
Bank borrowings 106,129 106,498 199,971 488,058
Trust receipts 34,457 - - -
Lease liabilities 51,676 43,655 99,385 12,097
226,798 150,153 299,356 500,155

(d)  Capital risk

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safequard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise
shareholder value. In order to maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividend paid, return capital to shareholders, obtain new
borrowings or sell assets to reduce borrowings.

The Group monitors capital based on a book leverage ratio (defined as total debt to total
equity and debt). The Group pursues a policy aiming to achieve a target book leverage ratio
of below 60%. If the book leverage ratio is higher than 60%, the Group will seek to return
to a conservative financial level by disposing assets, deleveraging the balance sheet;
and/or increasing fixed income coverage within a reasonable period of time.

The Group’s leverage ratio net of cash at 31 December 2021 is 35% (2020: 44%).

The Group is in compliance with all other externally imposed capital requirements for the
financial year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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24, Financial risk management (continued)

(e)  Financial instruments by category

The aggregate carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments are as follows:

2021 2020

Uss$’000 Uss'000

Equity financial assets, at FVPL 3,250 28,259
Net derivative liabilities measured at fair value (1,263) (67,794)
Financial assets at amortised cost 259,647 319,617
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 808,267 885,342

(f)  Estimation of fair value

IFRS 13 established a fair value hierarchy that prioritises inputs used to measure fair value.
The three levels of the fair value input hierarchy defined by IFRS 13 are as follows:

(i)  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level
1);

(i) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)
(Level 2); and

(iii) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Uss’000 Uss'000 Uss’000 Uss’000
2021
Assets
Equity financial assets, at FVPL - - 3,250 3,250
Derivative financial instruments - 23,682 - 23,682
Total assets - 23,682 3,250 26,932
Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments - 24,945 - 24,945
Total liabilities - 24,945 - 24,945
2020
Assets
Equity financial assets, at FVPL 28,259 - - 28,259
Derivative financial instruments - 7,969 - 7,969
Total assets 28,259 7,969 - 36,228
Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments - 75,763 - 75,763
Total liabilities - 75,763 - 75,763
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24.  Financial risk management (continued)

(f)  Estimation of fair value (continued)

Derivative financial assets and liabilities

The Group's financial derivative instruments primarily relate to interest rate swaps, forward
freight agreements, bunker swaps and commodity contracts (note 16) measured at fair
value and are within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair values of financial derivative
instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined by using valuation
techniques. The fair values of interest rate swaps are calculated at the present value of
estimated future cash flows based on observable yield curves. The fair values of forward
freight agreements, bunker swaps and commodity contracts measured at fair value are
determined using forward commodity indices at the balance sheet date.

Non-derivative non-current financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amount of non-derivative non-current financial assets and liabilities which bear
floating interest rates are assumed to approximate their fair value because of the short
repricing period. There are no non-current financial assets and liabilities which do not bear
floating interest rates.

Non-derivative current financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with 3 maturity of less than one year
are assumed to approximate their fair value because of the short period to maturity.

(g)  Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The Group has the following financial instruments subject to enforceable master netting
arrangements or other similar agreements as follows:

Gross
amounts of
recognised Net amounts
Gross financial of financial Related
amounts of  instruments  instruments financial
recognised offsetinthe  includedin instruments
financial balance  the balance  that are not
instruments sheet sheet offset  Net amount
2021 Uss$'000 Uss$'000 Us$'000 Uss$'000 Uss$’000
Derivative financial
assets
Commodity contracts
(Note 16) 32,889 (26,810) 6,079 - 6,079
Derivative financial
liabilities
Commodity contracts
(Note 16)
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24.  Financial risk management (continued)

(g)  Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Gross
amounts of
recognised Net amounts
Gross financial of financial Related
amounts of  instruments  instruments financial
recognised  offsetinthe  includedin instruments
financial balance  the balance  that are not
instruments sheet sheet offset  Net amount
2020 uss$’000 uss$’000 US$’000 US$’000 uss$’000
Derivative financial
assets
Commodity contracts
(Note 16) 66,521 (62,375) 4,146 - 4,146
Derivative financial
liabilities
Commodity contracts
(Note 16) 85,142 (62,375) 22,767 - 22,767

25.  Segment information
The Group has two main operating segments:

(i)  Very Large Gas Carriers (VLGCs); and
(i) Product Services

The Product Services Division was established on 25 February 2019 to support the Group’s core
shipping business and commenced its product trading and delivery services in Q2 2019.

The Product Services segment represent less than 10 percent of the Group’s total assets, revenue
and profit or loss. The Group has determined that this segment is not material to the Group for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 and has reported information as one
combined segment.

Geographical information

Non-current assets comprise mainly vessels, operating on an international platform with individual
vessels calling at various ports across the globe. The Group does not consider the domicile of its
customers as a relevant decision making guideline and hence does not consider it meaningful to
allocate vessels and revenue to specific geographical locations.
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26.  Dividends paid

2021 2020
Uss$’000 UsS$'000
Final dividend paid in respect of FY 2020 of US50.34
(2020: in respect of FY 2020 of US$0.42) per share 47,260 57,201
Interim dividend paid in respect of Q1 2021 of US50.18
(2020: in respect of Q1 2020 of US$0.20) per share 24,679 28,120
Interim dividend paid in respect of Q2 2021 of US50.10
(2020: in respect of Q2 2020 of US$0.15) per share 13,963 20,621
Interim dividend paid in respect of Q3 2021 of U550.10
(2020: in respect of Q3 2020 of US$0.15) per share 13,605 20,672
99,507 126,614

The Board has declared a final cash dividend of USS$0.18 per share for 2021, amounting to US$24.6
million. Together with the interim dividend paid for Q1 2021 of US$0.18 per share, Q2 2021 of
US$0.10 per share and Q3 2021 of US$0.10 per share, the total dividend payout for FY 2021 will
amount to US$0.56 per share or US$77.1 million. The shares will be traded ex-dividend on and after
4 March 2022. The dividend will be payable on or about 18 March 2022 to shareholders of record
as at 7 March 2022.

27. Business combinations

In Q2 2021, the Group acquired 38.4% equity interest in BW Global United LPG India Private Limited
(“BW LPG India”) through conversion of loans receivable to equity. As a result, the Group’s equity
interest in BW LPG India increased from 50% to 88.4% resulting in the Group obtaining control of
BW LPG India, and consolidating BW LPG India as a subsidiary, when it was previously accounted for
as a joint venture.

The principal activity of BW LPG India is that of vessel owning and chartering. As a result of the
acquisition, the Group is expected to increase its market presence in the Indian charter market.

Details of the consideration paid, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, the non-controlling
interest recognised and the effects on the cash flows of the Group, at the acquisition date, were as
follows.

(3) Details of the acquisition

Us$'000
Purchase consideration - Conversion of loans receivable to equity 80,565
Non-controlling interest 12,575
Fair value of existing interest in joint venture 15,254
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (108,394)

Goodwill

T Non-controlling interest was measured based on their proportionate share of interest in the fair value of identifiable
net assets acquired
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27.  Business combinations (continued)

(3) Details of the acquisition (continued)

USS$’000
Fair value of existing interest in joint venture 15,254
Carrying amount of interest in joint venture (5,419)
Remeasurement of equity interest in joint venture ' 9,835
Acquisition related costs 2 (1,146)
Net gain on acquisition 8,689
1 Comprise deferred gains of U5$4.9 million from the sale of five vessels to the joint venture
2 presented as ‘Other expense’ on the statement of comprehensive income

(b) Effect on cash flows of the Group

USS$’000
Cash paid -
Less: cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired (4,633)
Cash inflow on acquisition (4,633)

(c) Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

US$'000
Cash and cash equivalents 4,633
Vessels and dry docking (Note 8) 197,000
Inventories 431
Trade and other receivables 8,455
Total assets 210,519
Trade and other payables 1,213
Borrowings 100,912
Total liabilities 102,125
Total identifiable net assets 108,394
Less: Non-controlling interest at fair value (12,575)

95,819

The fair value of vessels was estimated based on independent third party valuation reports, which
made reference to comparable transaction prices of similar vessels.

The carrying amounts of borrowings approximate their fair values because interest rates are repriced
on a reqular basis.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate their fair value due to the short-
term nature of these balances and are expected to be collectible in full at the date of acquisition.

For the nine months ended 31 December 2021, BW LPG India contributed revenue of US$43.6 million
and profit of US$13.8 million to the Group's results. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2021,
management estimates that the consolidated revenue would have been higher by approximately
US$14.0 million and consolidated profit for the period would have been higher by approximately
USS$2.0 million.
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28.  Investment in subsidiary
Set out below are the summarised financial information for BW Global United LPG India Private
Limited (“BW LPG India”) for the period from the date of acquisition. These are presented before
inter-company eliminations.

Summarised balance sheet:

Us$’000
Assets 25,673
Current assets
Includes

Cash and cash equivalents 1,350
Non-current assets 323,173
Liabilities
Current liabilities 81,275
Includes
Borrowings 78,903

Non-current liabilities (Borrowings) 148,286
Net assets 119,285
Summarised statement of comprehensive income:

Uss$’000
Revenue 43,612
Gain on disposal of assets held-for-sale 2,637
Vessel operating expense (11,132)
Depreciation and amortisation (16,175)
Finance expense (3,914)
Other expenses (1,245)
Net profit after tax 13,783
Other comprehensive income (currency translation effects) (2,892)
Total comprehensive income 10,891
Total comprehensive income allocated to non-controlling interests 1,262
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29.  Listing of companies in the Group

Equity Equity
Country of holding holding
Name of companies Principal activities incorporation 2021 2020
(i) Subsidiaries held by the Company
BW LPG Holding Limited Investment holding Bermuda 100% 100%
BW LPG Product Services Limited Investment holding Bermuda 100% 100%
(i) Subsidiaries held by BW LPG Holding
Limited
BW Gas LPG Chartering Pte. Ltd Chartering Singapore 100% 100%
BW VLGC Pte. Ltd Shipowning Singapore 100% 100%
BW Lord Limited @) Dormant Bermuda - 100%
LPG Transport Service Ltd. Dormant Bermuda 100% 100%
BW Loyalty Limited (3@) Dormant Bermuda - 100%
BW Green Transport AS @) Chartering Norway - 100%
BW Green Carriers AS (@) Chartering Norway - 100%
BW LPG Pool Pte. Ltd. Chartering Singapore 100% 100%
BW LPG Partners Pte Ltd Shipowning Singapore 100% 100%
BW LPG AS Management Norway 100% 100%
BW LPG Pte Ltd Management Singapore 100% 100%
BW LPG Technologies Pte. Ltd. Investment holding Singapore 100% -
BW Cyan Limited Shipowning Bermuda 100% 100%
BW Constellation | Pte. Ltd. Shipowning Singapore 100% 100%
BW Constellation Il Pte. Ltd. Shipowning Singapore 100% 100%
BW LPG Investments Limited Investment holding Bermuda 100% 100%
BW Okpo Pte. Ltd. Shipowning Singapore 100% 100%
BW Seoul Pte. Ltd. Shipowning Singapore 100% 100%
BW LPG LLC Management  United States 100% 100%
Aurora LPG Holding AS Management Norway 100% 100%
Aurora Shipping Il AS (b) Shipowning Norway - 100%
(if) Subsidiary held by BW LPG Product
Services Limited
BW LPG Product Services Pte. Ltd. Product delivery Singapore 100% 100%
services
(iv) Subsidiary held by BW LPG Pte. Ltd.
BW LPG India Pte. Ltd. Management Singapore 88.4% -
BW Global United LPG India Private Shipowning India 88.4% -

Limited

(a) Companies liquidated during the financial year
(b) Company merged into Aurora LPG Holding AS during the financial year
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BW LPG LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

30.  Subsequent events

In January 2022, an external investor subscribed for USS50 million of new shares in BW LPG India
Pte. Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group. Following this transaction, the Group will own approximately
67% in BW LPG India Pte. Ltd.

Concluded the sale of one VLGC in January 2022, which was delivered for further trading in February
2022. The sale generated liquidity of US$50 million and a net gain of US$11 million.

31.  New or revised accounting standards and interpretations

A number of new standards, interpretations and amendments to standards are effective for annual
periods beginning after 1 January 2022 and earlier application is permitted. However, the Group has
not early adopted the new or amended standards and interpretations in preparing these financial
statements.

There are no other IFRS or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to
have a material impact on the Group.

BW LPG LIMITED |ANNUAL REPORT 2021 17
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BW LPG LIMITED
PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Note 2021 2020
Uss$‘000 USS$'000
Dividend from a subsidiary 150,000 150,000
Other operating expenses 3 (3,826) (3,582)
146,174 146,418
Foreign currency exchange gain - net 2,573 43
Profit before tax for the financial year 148,747 146,461
Income tax expense 4 -
Profit after tax and total comprehensive income for the
financial year 148,747 146,461

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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BW LPG LIMITED
PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BALANCE SHEET

As at 31 December 20271
Note 2021 2020
Us$’000 Uss'000
Subsidiaries 5 1,121,231 1,071,537
Total non-current assets 1,121,231 1,071,537
Other receivables 6 180 278
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets 180 278
Total assets 1,121,411 1,071,815
Share capital 7 1,419 1,419
Share premium 7 289,812 289,812
Contributed surplus 685,913 685,913
Share-based payment reserve 7 922 457
Retained earnings 143,038 93,798
Total shareholder’s equity 1,121,104 1,071,399
Trade and other payables 8 307 416
Total liabilities 307 416
Total equity and liabilities 1,121,411 1,071,815

* Amount less than US$1,000

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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BW LPG LIMITED
PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax for the financial year

Adjustments for:

- share-based payment

- dividend income

Operating cash flow before working capital changes

Changes in working capital:

- other receivables

- trade and other payables

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities

Dividends received on behalf by a subsidiary’
Receivables from subsidiaries?

Net cash provided by investing activities

Cash flow from financing activity
Dividends paid on behalf by a subsidiary’
Net cash used in financing activity

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(ash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year

T Non-cash transactions with a subsidiary
2 Non-cash advances to subsidiaries
* Amount less than US$1,000

Note 2021 2020
US$’000 US$'000
148,747 146,461

465 227
(150,000) (150,000)
(788) 3,312)

98 (108)
(109) 12
(799) (3,408)
150,000 150,000
(49,694) (19,978)
100,306 130,022
(99,507) (126,614)
(99,507) (126,614)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

BW LPG LIMITED |ANNUAL REPORT 2021

123



124

BW LPG LIMITED
PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2027

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial
statements.

1. General information
BW LPG Limited (the “Company”) is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange and incorporated and
domiciled in Bermuda. The address of its registered office is ¢/o Inchona Services Limited,
Washington Mall Phase 2, 4th Floor, Suite 400, 22 Church Street, HM 1189, Hamilton HM EX,
Bermuda.
The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding.
These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of BW LPG Limited
on 1 March 2022.

2. Significant accounting policies

()  Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), and have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

New standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations

The Company has adopted the new standards and amendments to published standards as
at 1 January 2022. Changes in the Company’s accounting policies have been made as
required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective standards and
amendments.

The adoption of these new or amended standards and amendments did not result in
substantial changes in the Group’s accounting policies and had no material effect on the
amounts reported for the current or prior financial years.

Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires Management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. It
also requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. Estimates,
assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances. There are no estimates and assumptions which
have a material effect on the financial statements.

(b)  Revenue and income recognition

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
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BW LPG LIMITED
PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 37 December 2021

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)  Interest in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses in the
Company’s balance sheet. On disposal of such investments, the difference between
disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments are recognised in profit or
loss.

Receivables from subsidiaries where settlement is neither planned nor likely in the
foreseeable future, are classified as non-current. These receivables are measured at
amortised cost subsequent to initial measurement. In assessing an impairment allowance,
the Company uses the accounting policy described in note 2(d).

(d)  Impairment of non-financial assets

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair
value less cost to sell and value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless
the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other
assets. If this is the case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit (“CGU") to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. The difference
between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment loss
in profit or loss.

An impairment loss for an asset (or CGU) is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s (or CGU’s) recoverable amount since the
last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of this asset (or CGU) is
increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of accumulated depreciation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in prior years. A reversal of
impairment loss for an asset (or CGU) is recognised in profit or loss.

(e)  Financial assets

The Company managed these groups of financial assets by collecting the contractual cash
flow and these cash flows represent solely payment of principal and interest. Accordingly,
these groups of financial assets are measured at amortised cost subsequent to initial
recognition.

The Company assesses on a forward looking basis the ECLs associated with these groups of
financial assets.

For other receivables and cash and cash equivalents, the general 3 stage approach is
applied. Credit loss allowance is based on 12-month ECL if there is no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition of the assets. If there is a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, lifetime ECL will be calculated and recognised.

When the asset becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance amount.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised against the same
line item in profit or loss.
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BW LPG LIMITED
PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2027

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e)

Financial assets (continued)

The impairment allowance is reduced through profit or loss in a subsequent period by the
amount of ECL reversal that is required to adjust the loss allowance to the amount that is
required to be recognised at the reporting date.

These assets are presented as current assets except for those that are expected to be
realised later than 12 months after the balance sheet date, which are presented as non-
current assets.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as
non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts of current financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised costs
approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of the balances.

Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation
where as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.
When the Company expects a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised
as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Foreign currency translation

(1) Functional currency

The financial statements of the Company are presented in United States Dollar
(“USS”), which is the functional currency.

(2) Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”)
are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign currency exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the
balance sheet date are recognised in profit or loss.
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BW LPG LIMITED
PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 37 December 2021

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(j)  Share capital

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issuance of new common shares are deducted against share premium, a component of the

share capital account.

(k)  Dividend to Company’s shareholders

Dividend to Company’s shareholders are recognised when the dividend are approved for

payment.

Expenses by nature

2021 2020

Uss$’000 USS$'000

Directors’ fees 377 397
Share-based payments - equity settled 631 227
Support service fees charged by subsidiaries 2,485 2,382
Other expenses 333 576
Total other operating expenses 3,826 3,582

Income tax

No provision for tax has been made for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 as the Company
does not have any income that is subject to income tax based on the tax legislation applicable to

the Company.

There is no income, withholding, capital gains or capital transfer taxes payable in Bermuda.

Subsidiaries
2021 2020
Uss$’000 Uss’000
Equity investments at cost 685,920 685,920
Receivables from subsidiaries 435,311 385,617
1,121,231 1,071,537

The receivables from subsidiaries are classified as financial assets at amortised cost. Allowance for
impairment on these receivables is insignificant. The receivables are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment. The settlement of these receivables is neither planned nor likely
in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the receivables are classified as non-current.
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BW LPG LIMITED
PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

5. Subsidiaries (continued)

Details of the subsidiaries held directly by the Company are as follows:

Equity Equity
Principal Country of holding holding
Name of company activity  incorporation 2021 2020
BW LPG Holding Limited Investment Bermuda 100% 100%
holding
BW LPG Product Services Limited  Investment Bermuda 100% 100%
holding
6. Other receivables
2021 2020
Us$’000 US$'000
Other receivables - related parties” 6 106
Other receivables - non-related parties 174 172
180 278

~ Related parties refer to corporations controlled by a shareholder of the Company.

The carrying amounts of other receivables, principally denominated in USS, approximate their fair
values due to the short-term nature of these balances.

Other receivables due from related parties are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on
demand.
7. Share capital and other reserves

(@) Issued and fully paid share capital

(i) As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company’s share capital comprised of
141,938,998 fully paid common shares with a par value of US$0.01. Fully paid
common shares carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividend as and when
declared by the Company.

(ii) The Company operates two equity-settled, share-based compensation plans. The
2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP 2015") was fully vested in 2018 and
common shares of 2,197 were issued to certain employees. The LTIP 2015 was
replaced by a 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP 2017"). For LTIP 2017, at the
end of the vesting periods between February 2021 and February 2024, common
shares of 2,012,424 (2020: 1,657,424) may be issued to certain employees.

(b)  Share premium

The difference between the consideration for common shares issued and their par value
are recognised as share premium.
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BW LPG LIMITED
PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

7. Share capital and other reserves (continued)

(c)  Share-based payment reserve

Certain employees are entitled to receive common shares in the Company. This award is
recognised as an expense in the consolidated profit or loss with a corresponding increase
in the share-based payment reserve over the vesting periods. For the year ended
31 December 2021, an expense of US$0.47 million (2020: US$0.23 million) was recognised
in the consolidated profit or loss with a corresponding increase (2020: increase) recognised
in the share-based payment reserve.

8. Trade and other payables

2021 2020

Uss$'000 USs$'000

Trade payables - non-related parties 86 5
Other accrued operating expenses 221 411
307 416

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables, principally denominated in USS$, approximate
their fair values due to the short-term nature of these balances.

9. Related party transactions
In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following
transactions took place between the Company and related parties during the financial year at terms

agreed between the parties:

(@) Services

2021 2020
Us$’000 USS'000
Corporate service fees charged by subsidiaries 2,485 2,382
(b) Key management’s remuneration
2021 2020
USS$’000 Uss’000
Directors’ fees 377 397
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BW LPG LIMITED
PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

10.  Financial risk management
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks. The Company’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on financial performance of the Company.

The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the objectives and underlying principles of financial
risk management for the Company.

(@) Market risk - Currency risk

The Company’s business operations are not exposed to significant foreign exchange risk as
it has no significant reqular transactions denominated in foreign currencies.

(b)  Credit risk

The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents. Bank deposits are not impaired and are mainly deposits with banks with credit-
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. Other receivables are neither past
due nor impaired. The maximum exposure is represented by the carrying value of each
financial asset on the balance sheet.

(c)  Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close
out market positions. The Company maintains sufficient cash for its daily operations via
short-term cash deposit at banks and funding from a subsidiary.

The table below analyses non-derivative financial liabilities of the Company into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the
contractual maturity date on an undiscounted basis.

Less than
1 year
Us$’000
At 31 December 2021
Trade and other payables 307
At 31 December 2020
Trade and other payables 416
12N
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BW LPG LIMITED
PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 37 December 2021

10.  Financial risk management (continued)

(d)  Capital risk

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safequard the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to
maximise shareholder value. In order to maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure,
the Company may adjust the amount of dividend paid, return capital to shareholders, or
collect dividend from the subsidiary.

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements for the financial
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

(e)  Financial instruments by category

The aggregate carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments are as follows:

2021 2020
Us$’000 US$’000
Financial assets at amortised cost 435,491 385,895
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 307 416
11.  Dividends paid
2021 2020
Uss$’000 US$’000
Final dividend paid in respect of FY 2020 of US$0.34
(2020: in respect of FY 2019 of US$0.42) per share 47,260 57,201
Interim dividend paid in respect of Q1 2021 of US$0.18
(2020: in respect of Q1 2020 of US50.20) per share 24,679 28,120
Interim dividend paid in respect of Q2 2021 of US$0.10
(2020: in respect of Q2 2020 of USS0.15) per share 13,963 20,621
Interim dividend paid in respect of Q3 2021 of US$0.10
(2020: in respect of Q3 2020 of USS0.15) per share 13,605 20,672
99,507 126,614

The Board has declared a final cash dividend of US$0.18 per share for 2021, amounting to US524.6
million. Together with the interim dividend paid for Q1 2021 of US$0.18 per share, Q2 2021 of
US$0.10 per share and Q3 2021 of US$0.10 per share, the total dividend payout for FY 2021 will
amount to US$0.56 per share or US577.1 million. The shares will be traded ex-dividend on and after
4 March 2022. The dividend will be payable on or about 18 March 2022 to shareholders of record
as at 7 March 2022.
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BW LPG LIMITED
PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

12. New or revised accounting standards and interpretations

A number of new standards, interpretations and amendments to standards are effective for annual
periods beginning after 1 January 2022 and earlier application is permitted. However the Company
has not early adopted the new or amended standards and interpretations in preparing these financial
statements.

There are no other IFRS or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to
have a material impact on the Company.
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Fleet List

At end 2021, our fleet comprised 41 vessels,
including owned, chartered-in and joint-venture
vessels. We committed US$130 million fo retrofit 15
of our vessels with pioneering dual-fuel propulsion
technology, so that LPG can power our fleet.

Ownership

. Owned
. Chartered-in

India Subsidiary

. BW LPG VLGC Fleet

. Other VLGC NB

Third Party VLGC
Fleet on water

Ownership

GHG Emission
Reduction Approach

. Compliant Fuels

. LPG-propelled (2021)

Scrubbers

Committed to Retrofitting in 2022

s # We are the world’s largest
owner and operator of
Very Large Gas Carriers
Environmental
Compliance
. Compliance
oS Our fleet of 41 vessel
: make up 13% of
Compiance. the global VLGC total

I
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POWERED BY LPG

Modern fleet' of 41 vessels
built at leading shipyards

Owned VLGCs (100% Ownership)

L

Chartered /BareboatVLGCs

Name Year Shipyard Name Year Shipyard Charter Type
BW Mindoro? 2017 DSME BW Yushi 2020 Mitsubishi H.I. Time charter
BW Malacca? 2016 DSME BW Kizoku 2019 MitsubishiH.I. Time charter
BW Magellan? 2016 DSME Oriental King 2017 Hyundai H.I. Timecharter
BW Frigg? 2016 Hyundai H.I. BW Messina 2017 DSME Time charter
BW Freyja? 2016 Hyundai H.I. BW Kyoto 2010 MitsubishiH.I. Time charter
BW Volans? 2016 Hyundai H.. BW Tokyo 2009 Mitsubishi H.I. Time charter
BW Brage? 2016 Hyundai H.I. Berge Nantong 2006 Hyundai H.. Timecharter
BW Tucana? 2016 Hyundai H.. Berge Ningbo 2006 Hyundai H.. Time charter
BW Var? 2016 Hyundai H..
BW Njord? 2016 Hyundai H.I. Total 8 vessels (0.7 million CBM)
BW Balder? 2016 HyundaiH.I.
BW Orion? 2015 Hyundai H.I VLGCsin BW Global United LPG India Private Limited
BW Libra2 2015 Hyundai H.I Name Year Shipyard Ownership
BW Leo? 2015 Hyundai H.I BW Pine 201 KawasakiS.C. 88%
BW Gemini? 2015 HyundaiH.I. BW Lord 2008 DSME 88%
BW Carina 2015 HyundaiH.I. BW Tyr 2008 HyundaiH.I. 88%
BW Aries 2014 Hyundai H.I. BW Oak 2008 HyundaiH.I. 88%
BW Niigata 2010 MitsubishiH.I. BWEIm 2007 Hyundai H.1. 88%
BW Odin 2009 HyundaiH.I. BW Birch 2007 HyundaiH.I. 88%
BW Austria 2009 DSME BW Cedar 2007 HyundaiH.I. 88%
BW Thor 2008 Hyundai H.I.
BW Princess 2008 Hyundai H.. Total 7 vessels (0.6 million CBM)
BW Loyalty 2008 DSME
BW Liberty 2007 DSME
BW Prince 2007 Hyundai H.I.
BW Trader 2006 DSME

'Asat21January 2021

Total 26 vessels (2.2 million CBM)
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Glossary

‘BW LPG Group’ or BW LPG and its subsidaries
the ‘Group’

‘BWLPG’ orthe ‘Company’ BW LPG Limited

Ballast Water Management The International Convention for the Control and Management of Ships’ Ballast Water and Sediments (BWM
Convention Convention) requires vessels to comply with standards and procedures for the management and control of ships’
ballast water and sediments

Baltic LPG Index Baltic Exchange Liquid Petroleum Gas Index - An assessment of the daily spot charter rates of a vessel moving
LPG between the Middle East and Japan

Bermuda Companies Act The Companies Act 1981(as amended) of Bermuda

BIMCO Baltic and International Maritime Council - The largest international association representing shipowners

Board of Directors Board of Directors of BW LPG

or the ‘Board’

Bunker fuel Any fuel used to power a ship’s engines

CBM Cubic meter - A unit of volume of a gas vessel's capacity for carrying gas cargoes

Charter Hiring of a vessel, or use of its carrying capacity for either (i) a specified period of time (time-charter) or (ii) a specific
voyage or set of voyages (voyage charter)

CIF Cost, Insurance, Freight - Rules covering the carriage of international goods by sea

CoA Contract of Affreightment - Under a CoA, the shipowner provides capacity to transport a certain amount of cargo

within a specified period from one place to a destination designated by the customer. All of the ship’s operating,
voyage and capital costs are borne by the shipowner. The freight rate is normally agreed on a per cargo tonne
basis. The freight rate can be fixed or floating, or a combination

of both

Commercial management  Marketing of vessels for business, negotiating and firming carriage of cargo contracts with customers and
operating of vessels in accordance with the terms of the charter parties

Dry docking Placing a vessel out of water alongside a dock for major repairs and surveys usually coinciding with periodical
regulatory survey requirements of the vessel

Dual-fuel engine An engine thatis able to run on both gas oiland LNG or LPG

EBITDA Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortisation

ECA Emission Control Area - Sea areas in which stricter controls were established to minimise airborne emissions from

ships. Until 31 December 2019, the limit for sulphur content of ships’ fuel oil was 3.5% for vessels trading outside
ECAs. Today, a global cap of 0.5% applies.

EEDI Energy Efficiency Design Index - An IMO measure designed to ensure the use of more energy efficient equipment
and engines

ESG Environmental, social and governance

Flag state Administration offering vessel registration services and responsible for ensuring implementation of international
conventions

G&A General and administrative expenses

GHG Greenhouse gases

GRI Global Reporting Initiative - An international standard for sustainability reporting

HSSEQ Health, Safety, Security, Environment and Quality

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards - An international standard for accounting and financial reporting

IMO International Maritime Organisation - A United Nations global standard-setting authority for the safety, security
and environmental performance of international shipping

IMO 2020 A global regulation effective from1January 2020 requiring all ships to burn fuels with less than 0.5% sulphur or use
emission abatement technologies

ISM nternational Safety Management Code - An international standard for the safe management and operation of
ships and for pollution prevention

LGC Large Gas Carrier - Gas carrier of 50,000 - 70,000 CBM

LNG Liquified Natural Gas

LPG Liquefied Petroleum Gas
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Term Definition

LTIF Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate - A ratio of the number of lost time injuries occurring in a workplace per 1 million
hours worked. An LTIFR of 7, for example, shows that 7 lost time injuries occur on a jobsite every 1 million hours
worked. The formula gives a picture of how safe a workplace is for its workers

MACN Maritime Anti-Corruption Network - A global business network working towards the vision of a maritime industry
free of corruption

MARPOL International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships designed to prevent pollution from shipping

MGO Marine gas oil

MLC Maritime Labour Convention - An international agreement that sets out minimum requirements for the working
conditions for seafarers

Newbuilding Anew vessel under construction

NM Nautical mile

NOX Nitrogen oxide

OPEX Vessel operating expenses, such as manning, insurance, maintenance and repairs

P&l Club Protection & Indemnity Club - A mutual insurance association providing risk pooling, information and
representation for its shipowner members

PM Particulate matter

Pools Arrangement under which vessels owned by different owners are contributed into a pool. The manager of the pool

markets the vessels as a single, cohesive fleet, operating them under spot contracts, CoAs and time-charters.
The income from the vessels included in the pool is distributed to individual owners according to an agreed upon
pool point system whereby each vessel receives its share of the pool’s earnings according to the vessel's earning

potential

Port State Control Inspection of ships to ensure that the ship and its equipment complies with international conventions

Poseidon Principles Framework developed by leading ship financiers for integrating climate considerations into lending decisions to
promote international shipping’s decarbonisation

Ql Qualified Individual - Under the US Oil Pollution Act, all vessels calling in US waters must ensure that a Qualified
Individual is available to implement a response plan

Scrubber Emission abatement technology installed on a ship allowing it to burn high sulphur fuels

SIRE Ship Inspection Report Programme - A programme for evaluating and rating tanker vessels’ technical and safety
standards, for use as a reference by oil and gas companies when utilising vessels

SOx Sulphur dioxide

TCEincome Gross freight less voyage related costs

Technical Management Daily operation of a vessel, including maintenance, supplies and manning

Time-charter Under time-charters, vessels are chartered to customers for fixed periods of time at rates that are generally fixed.

The charterer pays all voyage costs. The owner of the vessel receives monthly charter payments on a per day
basis and is responsible for the payment of all vessel operating expenses (including manning, maintenance, repair
and docking) and capital costs of the vessel

Tonne-mile Unit cargo x distance; i.e. 10 metric tonnes carried 25 miles = 250 tonne miles

TRCF Total Recordable Case Frequency - The sum of all work-related fatalities and injuries per one million hours worked
over the quantity of hours worked

UNSDGs United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals

Vesselrecycling The sale of a vessel for dismantling and reprocessing the building materials

VLGC Very Large Gas Carrier - A gas carrier above 70,000 CBM

Voyage charter Typically a single round trip that is priced on a current or spot market value. The owner of the vessel receives

payment derived by multiplying the metric tonnes of cargo loaded on board by the agreed upon freight rate
expressed on a per cargo metric tonne basis. The owner is responsible for the payment of all expenses including
voyage expenses (including bunker fuel, agency and port costs), operating expenses and capital costs of the

vessel

WLPGA World LPG Association - An international association representing over 250 companies involved in the LPG value
chain

YoY Year on Year
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